

Report 601782011/2009

L.C. van Leeuwen

Environmental risk limits for xylene (m-xylene, o-xylene and p-xylene)



RIVM Report 601782011/2009

# Environmental risk limits for xylene (m-xylene, o-xylene and p-xylene)

L.C. van Leeuwen

Contact: L.C. van Leeuwen Expertise Centre for Substances lonneke.van.leeuwen@rivm.nl

This investigation has been performed by order and for the account of the Directorate-General for Environmental Protection, Directorate Environmental Safety and Risk Management, within the framework of Standard setting for other relevant substances within the project 'International and National Environmental Quality Standards for Substances in the Netherlands' (INS).

### © RIVM 2009

Parts of this publication may be reproduced, provided acknowledgement is given to the 'National Institute for Public Health and the Environment', along with the title and year of publication.

# **Abstract**

#### Environmental risk limits for xylenes (m-xylene, o-xylene and p-xylene)

This report documents the RIVM derivation of environmental risk limits (ERLs) for xylenes in water, groundwater and soil. This group of substances contains m-xylene, o-xylene and p-xylene. These substances are used as solvents in the printing, rubber and leather industries.

For deriving the ERLs, RIVM used up-to-date ecotoxicological data in combination with the most recent methodology, as required by the European Water Framework Directive. This resulted in ERLs for fresh surface water that are reduced compared to earlier derived ERLs. However, monitoring data from the river Rhine in the period 2001 - 2006 do not show an exceedance of the new ERLs. ERLs were not derived for the sediment compartment, because sorption to sediment is below the trigger value to derive such risk limits, resulting in minimal exposure of water organisms to xylenes via the sediment.

ERLs are not legally binding, but provide the scientific basis for setting the Environmental Quality Standards, a task which falls under the authority of the Dutch interdepartmental 'Steering Group Substances'. The government adopts these quality standards when implementing the national policy on substances and the European Water Framework Directive. Four different risk limits are distinguished: 'Negligible Concentrations' (NC); the concentration at which no harmful effects are to be expected ('Maximum Permissible Concentration', MPC); the 'Maximum Acceptable Concentration' for ecosystems – specifically in terms of short-term exposure (MAC $_{\rm eco}$ ); and the concentration at which possible serious effects are to be expected ('Serious Risk Concentrations', SRC $_{\rm eco}$ ).

#### Key words:

environmental risk limits, negligible concentration, maximum permissible concentration, maximum acceptable concentration, serious risk concentration, xylene, 1,2-dimethylbenzene, 1,3-dimethylbenzene, 1,4-dimethylbenzene

# Rapport in het kort

#### Milieurisicogrenzen voor xylenen (m-xyleen, o-xyleen, p-xyleen)

Het RIVM heeft milieurisicogrenzen afgeleid voor xylenen in water, grondwater en bodem. Deze stoffen worden gebruikt als oplosmiddel bij drukkerijen en in de rubberindustrie. De groep stoffen omvat m-xyleen, o-xyleen en p-xyleen.

Voor dit onderzoek zijn actuele (eco)toxicologische gegevens gebruikt, gecombineerd met de meest recente methodiek. Deze methodiek is voorgeschreven door de Europese Kaderrichtlijn Water. De nieuwe milieurisicogrenzen zijn lager dan de eerder afgeleide milieurisicogrenzen. Gemeten concentraties in de Rijn tussen 2001 en 2006 laten geen overschrijding van de nieuwe milieurisicogrenzen zien. Voor de waterbodem zijn geen milieurisicogrenzen afgeleid, omdat de xylenen de grenswaarde voor binding aan sediment niet overschrijden. Hierdoor is blootstelling van waterorganismen aan xylenen via sediment minimaal.

Milieurisicogrenzen zijn niet bindend, maar zijn de wetenschappelijke basis waarop de Nederlandse interdepartementale Stuurgroep Stoffen de wettelijke milieukwaliteitsnormen vaststelt. De overheid hanteert deze normen bij de uitvoering van het nationale stoffenbeleid en de Europese Kaderrichtlijn Water. Er bestaan vier verschillende niveaus voor milieurisicogrenzen: een Verwaarloosbaar Risiconiveau (VR), een niveau waarbij geen schadelijke effecten zijn te verwachten, het Maximaal Toelaatbaar Risiconiveau (MTR), de Maximaal Aanvaardbare Concentratie voor ecosystemen, specifiek voor kortdurende blootstelling (MAC $_{eco}$ ) en het Ernstig Risiconiveau, een niveau waarbij mogelijk ernstige effecten voor ecosystemen zijn te verwachten (ER $_{eco}$ ).

#### Trefwoorden:

milieurisicogrenzen, verwaarloosbaar risiconiveau, maximaal toelaatbaar risiconiveau, maximaal acceptabele concentratie, ernstig risiconiveau, xyleen, 1,2-dimethylbenzeen, 1,3-dimethylbenzeen, 1,4-dimethylbenzeen

# **Preface**

The goal of this report is to derive risk limits that protect both man and the environment. This is done in accordance with the methodology of the Water Framework Directive (WFD) that is incorporated in the present International and National Environmental Quality Standards for Substances in the Netherlands (INS) methodology, following the Guidance for the derivation of environmental risk limits within the INS framework (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007).

The results presented in this report have been discussed by the members of the scientific advisory group for the project 'International and National Environmental Quality Standards for Substances in the Netherlands' (WK-INS). This advisory group provides a non-binding scientific advice on the final draft of a report in order to advise the Dutch Steering Group for Substances of the project INS on the scientific merits of the report.

# Acknowledgements

Thanks are due to ing. M. Adams, who is contact person at the Ministry of Housing, Spatial Planning and the Environment (VROM-DGM/Environmental Safety and Risk Management) and to dr. M.P.M. Janssen who is program coordinator for the derivation of ERLs within the RIVM.

The results of the present report have been discussed in the scientific advisory group INS (WK INS). The members of this group are acknowledged for their contribution.

Thanks are due to dr. E.M.J. Verbruggen, ing. P.L.A. van Vlaardingen and dr. ir. C.T.A. Moermond for helpful discussions and comments on the report.

# **Contents**

Summary		13
1	Introduction	15
1.1	Project framework	15
1.2	Selection of substances	15
1.3	Guidance followed for this project	16
2	Methods	17
2.1	Data collection	17
2.2	Data evaluation and selection	17
2.3	Derivation of ERLs	18
2.3.1	Drinking water	18
2.3.2	MAC <sub>eco, marine</sub>	19
3	Derivation of environmental risk limits	21
3.1	m-xylene	21
3.1.1	Substance identification, physico-chemical properties, fate and human toxicology	21
3.1.2	Trigger values	22
3.1.3	Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for water	23
3.1.4	Selection of the MPC <sub>water</sub> and MPC <sub>marine</sub>	25
3.1.5	Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for sediment	25
3.1.6	Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for soil	26
3.1.7	Derivation of ERLs for groundwater	26
3.1.8	Derivation of ERL for air	27
3.1.9	Comparison of derived ERLs with monitoring data	27
3.2	o-xylene	28
3.2.1	Substance identification, physico-chemical properties, fate and human toxicology	28
3.2.2	Trigger values	29
3.2.3	Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for water	30
3.2.4	Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for sediment	32
3.2.5	Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for soil	32
3.2.6	Derivation of ERLs for groundwater	33
3.2.7	Derivation of ERL for air	33
3.2.8	Comparison of derived ERLs with monitoring data	34
3.3	p-xylene	35
3.3.1	Substance identification, physico-chemical properties, fate and human toxicology	35
3.3.2	Trigger values.	36
3.3.3	Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for water	37
3.3.4	Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for sediment	39
3.3.5	Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for soil	39
3.3.6	Derivation of ERLs for groundwater	40
3.3.7	Derivation of ERL for air	40
3.3.8	Comparison of derived ERLs with monitoring data	40

3.4	Xylene (grouped isomers)	4]	
3.4.1	Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for water	41	
3.4.2	Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for soil	43	
3.4.3	Derivation of ERLs for groundwater	44	
3.4.4	Derivation of ERL for air	44	
3.4.5	Comparison of derived ERLs with monitoring data	45	
3.5	Sum limits	45	
4	Conclusions	47	
Reference	es	49	
Appendix 1. Information on bioconcentration			
Appendix 2. Detailed aquatic toxicity data			

# **Summary**

Environmental risk limits are derived using ecotoxicological, physico-chemical, and human toxicological data. They represent potential risks of a substance to man and ecosystems and form the scientific basis for setting environmental quality standards by the Dutch Steering Group for Substances.

In this report, the risk limits Negligible Concentration (NC), Maximum Permissible Concentration (MPC), Maximum Acceptable Concentration for ecosystems (MAC<sub>eco</sub>), and Serious Risk Concentration for ecosystems (SRC<sub>eco</sub>) are derived for m-xylene, o-xylene and p-xylene in water, groundwater, soil and air. No risk limits were derived for the sediment compartment because sorption to sediment is below the trigger value to derive such risk limits.

The methodology used for the derivation of the MPC and  $MAC_{eco}$  for water, soil and air is in accordance with the Water Framework Directive. This methodology is based on the Technical Guidance Document (TGD) on risk assessment for new and existing substances and biocides (EC, 2003). For the NC and the  $SRC_{eco}$ , the guidance developed for the project 'International and National Environmental Quality Standards for Substances in the Netherlands' was used (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007). An overview of the derived environmental risk limits is given in Table 1.

Monitoring data for the river Rhine from the years 2001-2006, obtained from RIWA (Association of River Waterworks), show that at all sampling occasions and locations, the concentration of m-, o-, and p-xylene in water was below detection limits (0.02  $\mu$ g/L). Based on these data, the new ERLs are not exceeded.

Table 1. Derived MPC, NC, MACeco, and SRCeco values.

ERL	Unit	Substance	MPC	MAC	NC	SRC
Freshwater	μg/L	m-xylene	2.44	24.4	0.24	700
Marine water	μg/L	m-xylene	0.24	2.44	0.02	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Soil	μg/kg	m-xylene	31.9	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.32	n.d. <sup>a</sup>
Groundwater	μg/L	m-xylene	2.44	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.02	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Air	$\mu g/m^3$	m-xylene	870	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Freshwater	μg/L	o-xylene	4.10	41.0	0.04	1000
Marine water	μg/L	o-xylene	0.41	8.2	0.004	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Soil	μg/kg	o-xylene	56.0	n.a.	0.56	n.d. <sup>a</sup>
Groundwater	μg/L	o-xylene	4.10	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.04	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Air	$\mu g/m^3$	o-xylene	870	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Freshwater	μg/L	p-xylene	2.60	26.0	0.03	749
Marine water	μg/L	p-xylene	0.26	2.60	0.003	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Soil	μg/kg	p-xylene	37.2	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.37	n.d. <sup>a</sup>
Ground water	μg/L	p-xylene	2.60	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.03	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Air	$\mu g/m^3$	p-xylene	870	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Freshwater	μg/L	xylene	2.44	24.4	0.02	922
Marine water	μg/L	xylene	0.24	4.88	0.002	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Soil	μg/kg	xylene	33.35	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.33	n.d. <sup>a</sup>
Ground water	μg/L	xylene	2.44	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.02	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Air	$\mu g/m^3$	xylene	870	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> n.d. = not derived due to lack of data

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> n.a. = not applicable

# 1 Introduction

### 1.1 Project framework

In this report, environmental risk limits (ERLs) for surface water (freshwater and marine) are derived for m-xylene, o-xylene and p-xylene. The following ERLs are considered:

- Negligible Concentration (NC) concentration at which effects to ecosystems are expected to be negligible and functional properties of ecosystems must be safeguarded fully. It defines a safety margin which should exclude combination toxicity. The NC is derived by dividing the MPC (see below) by a factor of 100.
- Maximum Permissible Concentration (MPC) concentration in an environmental compartment at which:
  - 1. no effect to be rated as negative is to be expected for ecosystems;
  - 2a no effect to be rated as negative is to be expected for humans (for non-carcinogenic substances);
  - 2b for humans no more than a probability of 10<sup>-6</sup> death per year can be calculated (for carcinogenic substances).
- Maximum Acceptable Concentration (MAC<sub>eco</sub>) concentration protecting aquatic ecosystems for effects due to short-term exposure or concentration peaks.
- Serious Risk Concentration (SRC<sub>eco</sub>) concentration at which possibly serious ecotoxicological effects are to be expected.

These ERLs serve as advisory values that are used by the Steering Group for Substances to set Environmental Quality Standards (EQS) for various policy purposes. EQSs are all legally and non legally binding standards that are used in Dutch environmental policy.

### 1.2 Selection of substances

ERLs are derived for m-xylene, o-xylene and p-xylene (Table 2), which were selected by the Netherlands within the framework of 'International and national environmental quality standards for substances in the Netherlands' (INS).

Table 2. Selected compounds.

Compound	CAS number
m-xylene	108-38-3
o-xylene	95-47-6
p-xylene	106-42-3

# 1.3 Guidance followed for this project

In this report ERLs are derived following the methodology of the project 'International and national environmental quality standards for substances in the Netherlands' (INS) (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007). This updated INS guidance is in accordance with the guidance by Lepper (2005) which forms part of the Priority Substances Daughter Directive (2006/0129 (COD)) amending the WFD (2000/60/EC). The WFD guidance applies to the derivation of MPCs for water and sediment. ERL derivations for water and sediment are performed for both the freshwater and marine compartment. The WFD guidance introduces a new ERL, which is the Maximum Acceptable Concentration (MAC<sub>eco</sub>), a concentration that protects aquatic ecosystems from adverse effects caused by short-term exposure or concentration peaks. Two MPC values are considered for the water compartment that are based on a human toxicological risk limit (TL<sub>hh</sub>), such as an ADI or TDI (Acceptable or Tolerable Daily Intake, respectively). Discerned are (1) the MPC<sub>hh</sub> food, water, which is the concentration in water that should protect humans against adverse effects from the substance via fish and shellfish consumption; (2) the MPC<sub>dw,water</sub>, which is the concentration in water that should protect humans against adverse effects of the substance by consumption of drinking water. Note that each of these two MPCs is allowed to contribute only 10% to the TLhh. Two other MPCs are derived for the water compartment, based on ecotoxicological data. These are (1) the MPC<sub>eco,water</sub>, which is based on direct aquatic ecotoxicological data and (2) the MPC<sub>sp,water</sub>, the MPC accounting for secondary poisoning, which is derived in case secondary poisoning in the environment is thought to be of concern. It is important to note that MPC derivation integrates both ecotoxicological data and a human toxicological threshold value. The value of this final 'environmental risk limit' is determined by the lowest of these protection objectives.

The WFD guidance departs from the viewpoint that laboratory toxicity tests contain suspended matter in such concentrations, that results based on laboratory tests are comparable to outdoor surface waters. In other words: each outcome of an ERL derivation for water will now result in a <u>total</u> concentration. A recalculation from a dissolved to a total concentration is thus no longer made within INS framework. This differs from the former Dutch approach, in which each outcome of a laboratory test was considered to represent a <u>dissolved</u> concentration. This concentration could then be recalculated to a total concentration using standard characteristics for surface water and suspended matter.

# 2 Methods

The methodology for the derivation of ERLs is described in detail by Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen (2007), further referred to as the 'INS-Guidance'. This guidance is in accordance with the guidance of the Fraunhofer Institute (FHI; Lepper, 2005), which forms part of the Priority Substances Daughter Directive (2006/0129 (COD)) amending the WFD (2000/60/EC).

The process of ERL derivation consists of the following steps: data collection, data evaluation and selection, and derivation of the ERLs on the basis of the selected data.

#### 2.1 Data collection

An online literature search was performed on TOXLINE (literature from 1985 to 2001) and Current contents (literature from 1997 to 2007). The search resulted in approximately 110 references, of which more than 60 references were considered relevant. In addition to this, all references in the RIVM e-tox base and EPA's ECOTOX database were evaluated (an additional 30 references). All toxicity data are reported in the Appendices.

### 2.2 Data evaluation and selection

Ecotoxicity studies (including bird and mammal studies) were screened for relevant endpoints (i.e. those endpoints that have consequences at the population level of the test species). All relevant ecotoxicity and bioaccumulation tests were then thoroughly evaluated with respect to the validity (scientific reliability) of the study. A detailed description of the evaluation procedure is given in the INS-Guidance (see section 2.2.2 and 2.3.2). In short, the following reliability indices (Ri) were assigned:

- Ri 1: Reliable without restriction
  - 'Studies or data ... generated according to generally valid and/or internationally accepted testing guidelines (preferably performed according to GLP) or in which the test parameters documented are based on a specific (national) testing guideline ... or in which all parameters described are closely related/comparable to a guideline method.'
- Ri 2: Reliable with restrictions
  - 'Studies or data ... (mostly not performed according to GLP), in which the test parameters documented do not totally comply with the specific testing guideline, but are sufficient to accept the data or in which investigations are described which cannot be subsumed under a testing guideline, but which are nevertheless well documented and scientifically acceptable.'
- Ri 3: Not reliable
  - 'Studies or data ... in which there are interferences between the measuring system and the test substance or in which organisms/test systems were used which are not relevant in relation to the exposure (e.g., unphysiologic pathways of application) or which were carried out or generated according to a method which is not acceptable, the documentation of which is not sufficient for an assessment and which is not convincing for an expert judgment.'

#### - Ri 4: Not assignable

'Studies or data ... which do not give sufficient experimental details and which are only listed in short abstracts or secondary literature (books, reviews, etc.).'

All available studies were summarised in data-tables, that are included as Appendices to this report. These tables contain information on species characteristics, test conditions and endpoints. Explanatory notes are included with respect to the assignment of the reliability indices.

For the xylene isomers, fast volatilisation put special demands on the way toxicity tests are performed. This implies that in some cases endpoints were not considered reliable, although the test was performed and documented according to accepted guidelines. When xylene concentrations were not monitored in an open test system, a Ri of 3 was attributed to the study.

Endpoints with Ri 1 or 2 are accepted as valid, but this does not automatically mean that the endpoint is selected for the derivation of ERLs. The validity scores are assigned on the basis of scientific reliability, but valid endpoints may not be relevant for the purpose of ERL-derivation (e.g. due to inappropriate exposure times or test conditions that are not relevant for the Dutch situation).

After data collection and validation, toxicity data were combined into an aggregated data table with one effect value per species according to section 2.2.6 of the INS-Guidance. When for a species several effect data were available, the geometric mean of multiple values for the same endpoint was calculated where possible. Subsequently, when several endpoints were available for one species, the lowest of these endpoints (per species) is reported in the aggregated data table.

### 2.3 Derivation of ERLs

For a detailed description of the procedure for derivation of the ERLs, reference is made to the INS-Guidance. For some parts of the present ERL-derivation, however, additional comments should be made.

#### 2.3.1 Drinking water

In the FHI Guidance, Lepper (2005) states that the lowest MPC value should be selected as the general MPC. In line with this, the INS-Guidance includes the MPC for surface waters intended for the abstraction of drinking water (MPC $_{dw, water}$ ) as one of the MPCs from which the lowest value should be selected for the general MPC $_{water}$  (see INS-Guidance, section 3.1.6 and 3.1.7). In the proposal for the daughter directive Priority Substances, however, the EC based the derivation of the AA-EQS (= MPC) on direct exposure, secondary poisoning, and human exposure due to the consumption of fish. Drinking water was not included in the proposal and is thus not guiding for the general MPC value. The exact way of implementation of the MPC $_{dw, water}$  in the Netherlands is at present under discussion within the framework of the 'AMvB Waterkwaliteitseisen en Monitoring Water'. No policy decision has been taken yet, and the MPC $_{dw, water}$  is therefore presented as a separate value in this report.

Related to this is the inclusion of water treatment for the derivation of the MPC<sub>dw, water</sub>. According to the INS-Guidance, a substance specific removal efficiency related to simple water treatment should be derived.

### 2.3.2 MAC<sub>eco, marine</sub>

The assessment factor for the  $MAC_{eco,\;marine}$  value is based on

- the assessment factor for the  $MAC_{eco,\,water}$  value when acute toxicity data for at least two specific marine taxa are available, or
- using an additional assessment factor of 5 when acute toxicity data for only one specific marine taxon are available (analogous to the derivation of the MPC according to Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007), or
- using an additional assessment factor of 10 when no acute toxicity data are available for specific marine taxa.

If freshwater and marine data sets are not combined the  $MAC_{eco, marine}$  is derived on the marine toxicity data using the same additional assessment factors as mentioned above. It has to be noted that this procedure is currently not agreed upon. Therefore, the  $MAC_{eco, marine}$  value needs to be re-evaluated once an agreed procedure is available.

# 3 Derivation of environmental risk limits

# 3.1 m-xylene

### 3.1.1 Substance identification, physico-chemical properties, fate and human toxicology

#### **3.1.1.1 Identity**

Figure 1. Structural formula of m-xylene.

Table 3. Identification of m-xylene.

Parameter	Name or number	Source
Chemical name	1,3-dimethylbenzene	Mackay et al., 2006
Common/trivial/other name	meta-xylene, m-xylol, 3-methyltoluene	Mackay et al., 2006
CAS number	108-38-3	Mackay et al., 2006
EC number	203-576-3	
SMILES code	Cc1cccc(C)c1	

### 3.1.1.2 Physico-chemical properties

Table 4. Physico-chemical properties of m-xylene.

Parameter	Unit	Value	Remark	Reference
Molecular weight	[g/mol]	106.165		Mackay et al., 2006
Water solubility	[mg/L]	160	25°C	Mackay et al., 2006
$\log K_{\mathrm{OW}}$	[-]	3.15		Mackay et al., 2006
$\log K_{ m OC}$	[-]	2.33	$OC \ge 0.5\%$	Mackay et al., 2006
Vapour pressure	[Pa]	833	20°C	Mackay et al., 2006
		1213	30°C	
		6400	59.3°C	
Melting point	[°C]	-47.8		Mackay et al., 2006
Boiling point	[°C]	139.12		Mackay et al., 2006
Henry's law constant	[Pa.m <sup>3</sup> /mol]	615	EPIC-GC-FID,	Mackay et al., 2006
			2-25°C	

#### 3.1.1.3 Behaviour in the environment

Table 5. Selected environmental properties of m-xylene.

Parameter	Unit	Value	Remark	Reference
Hydrolysis half-life	DT50 [d]		no hydrolysable functional groups	Mackay et al., 2006
Photolysis half-life	DT50 [d]	0.4		IUCLID, 2000

In water, volatilisation seems to be the dominant removal process (Mackay et al., 2006) with a half-life of 3.1 hours (depth 1m, wind speed 3 m/s, current 1m/s).

#### 3.1.1.4 Bioconcentration and biomagnification

An overview of the bioaccumulation data for m-xylene is given in Table 6. Detailed bioaccumulation data for m-xylene are tabulated in Appendix 1.

Table 6. Overview of bioaccumulation data for m-xylene.

Parameter	Unit	Value	Remark	Reference
BCF (molluscs)	[L/kg]	6.43		Nunes and Benville, 1979
BCF (fish)	[L/kg]	23	Exposure in crude oil suspension	Mackay et al., 2006;
				Ogata and Miyake, 1978
BMF	[kg/kg]	1	Default value for BCF < 2000 L/kg	Van Vlaardingen and
				Verbruggen, 2007

#### 3.1.1.5 Human toxicological threshold limits and carcinogenicity

The following R-phrases are assigned to m-xylene: R10, R20/21, R38; m-xylene is not classified as being a carcinogen. The Tolerable Daily Intake (TDI) for xylenes is 150  $\mu$ g/kg bw day (Baars et al., 2001).

#### 3.1.2 Trigger values

This section reports on the trigger values for ERL water derivation (as demanded in WFD framework).

Table 7. m-xylene: collected properties for comparison to ERL triggers.

Parameter	Value	Unit	Method/Source	Derived at section
$\text{Log } K_{p,\text{susp-water}}$	1.33	[-]	$K_{\rm OC} \times f_{\rm OC,susp}^{1}$	K <sub>OC</sub> : 3.1.1.2
BCF	23	[L/kg]	•	3.1.1.4
BMF	1	[kg/kg]		3.1.1.4
$\text{Log } K_{\text{OW}}$	3.15	[-]		3.1.1.2
R-phrases	R10, R20/21, R38	[-]		3.1.1.5
A1 value	not available	[µg/L]		
DW standard	not available	[µg/L]		

 $<sup>1</sup> f_{OC,susp} = 0.1 \text{ kg}_{OC}/\text{kg}_{solid} (EC, 2003).$ 

- o m-xylene has a log  $K_{p, susp-water} < 3$ ; derivation of MPC<sub>sediment</sub> is not triggered.
- o m-xylene has a log  $K_{p, \text{susp-water}} < 3$ ; expression of the MPC<sub>water</sub> as MPC<sub>susp, water</sub> is not required.
- o m-xylene has a BCF < 100 L/kg; assessment of secondary poisoning is not triggered.
- o For m-xylene, no A1 and no Drinking Water value are available from Council Directives 75/440, EEC and 98/83/EC, respectively. Therefore, a provisional Drinking Water Standard (DWS) needs to be derived.

### 3.1.3 Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for water

### 3.1.3.1 MPC<sub>eco, water</sub> and MPC<sub>eco, marine</sub>

An overview of the selected toxicity data for m-xylene is given in Table 8 (freshwater) and Table 9 (marine water). Detailed toxicity data for m-xylene are tabulated in Appendix 2.

Table 8. m-xylene: selected freshwater toxicity data for ERL derivation.

Chronic <sup>a</sup>		Acute <sup>a</sup>	
Taxonomic group	NOEC/EC10 (mg/L)	Taxonomic group	L(E)C50 (mg/L)
Algae		Algae	
Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	0.7	Scenedesmus quadricauda	7.43
		Crustacea	
		Cerodaphnia cf. dubia	2.44
		Daphnia magna	10.57 <sup>b</sup>
		Daphnia spinulata	4.25
		Hyalella curvispina	4.25
		<u>Pisces</u>	
		Bryconamericus iheringii	11.45 <sup>c</sup>
		Carassius auratus	10.72
		Oncorhynchus mykiss	8.40
		Oryzias latipes	32.00
		Pimephales promelas	15.49
		Poecilia reticulata	12.90

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> For detailed information see Appendix 2. Bold values are used for ERL derivation.

Table 9. m-xylene: selected marine toxicity data for ERL derivation.

Chronic <sup>a</sup>		Acute a	
Taxonomic group	NOEC/EC10	Taxonomic group	L(E)C50
	(mg/L)		(mg/L)
		<u>Bacteria</u>	
		Vibrio fischeri	19.31
		<u>Crustacea</u>	
		Artemia salina	10.80

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> For detailed information see Appendix 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Geometric mean of 4.70 and 23.77 mg/L; parameter immobility.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Geometric mean of 11.68 and 11.23 mg/L.

#### 3.1.3.2 Treatment of fresh- and saltwater toxicity data

The datasets were compared according to the guidance of Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen (2007). Based on the result of the t-test ( $\alpha > 0.05$ ), the fresh- and saltwater data can be combined.

#### 3.1.3.3 Mesocosm studies

No mesocosm studies were available for m-xylene.

#### 3.1.3.4 Derivation of MPC<sub>eco, water</sub> and MPC<sub>eco, marine</sub>

#### Freshwater

The base set is complete. However, since only one chronic NOEC for algae (0.7 mg/L) is available an assessment factor of 1000 should be used on the lowest L(E)C<sub>50</sub> value. In this case, the lowest L(E)C<sub>50</sub> value is 2.44 mg/L for *Cerodaphnia cf. dubia*, resulting in a MPC<sub>eco, water</sub> of 2.44 mg/L / 1000 =  $2.44 \mu g/L$ 

#### Marine water

Since the datasets for freshwater and marine water can be combined, the MPC<sub>eco, marine</sub> is derived by applying an assessment factor of 10000 on the EC<sub>50</sub> value of 2.44 mg/L for *Cerodaphnia cf. dubia*. The MPC<sub>eco, marine</sub> is 2.44 mg/L / 10000 = 0.24  $\mu$ g/L.

### 3.1.3.5 MPC<sub>sp, water</sub> and MPC<sub>sp, marine</sub>

m-xylene has a BCF<100 L/kg, thus assessment of secondary poisoning is not triggered.

### 3.1.3.6 MPC<sub>hh food, water</sub>

Derivation of MPC hh food, water for m-xylene is not triggered (Table 7).

#### 3.1.3.7 MPC<sub>dw. water</sub>

For m-xylene, no A1 and no Drinking Water Standard were available from Council Directives 75/440, EEC and 98/83/EC, respectively. Therefore, a provisional DWS based on the TDI value for xylenes (150  $\mu g/kg_{bw}$  day Baars et al., 2001) should be derived, using the following formula given in Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen 2007, section 3.1.6. Using a TDI value of 150  $\mu g/kg_{bw}$  day, an average bodyweigth of 70 kg and an averaged drinking water uptake of 2L/day, the MPC<sub>dw, water, provisional</sub> becomes 525  $\mu g/L$ .

#### 3.1.3.8 MPC<sub>human, water</sub>

Following WFD methodology, the derivation of the MPC $_{human, water}$  is integrated in the MPC derivation for the water compartment. Since derivation of MPC $_{hh food, water}$  for m-xylene is not triggered (Table 7), the MPC $_{human, gw}$  is equal to the MPC $_{dw, water}$  of 525  $\mu$ g/L (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007).

#### 3.1.4 Selection of the MPC<sub>water</sub> and MPC<sub>marine</sub>

#### **Freshwater**

The lowest MPC value of the routes included is the MPC $_{eco,water}$  (see section 2.3). Therefore, the MPC $_{water}$  is 2.44  $\mu g/L$ .

#### Marine water

The lowest value of the routes included is the MPC<sub>eco, marine</sub> (see section 2.3). Therefore, the MPC<sub>marine</sub> is  $0.24 \mu g/L$ .

#### 3.1.4.1 MAC<sub>eco, water</sub>

Since the base set for m-xylene is complete, the substance does not bioaccumulate (BCF < 100 L/kg), and the mode of toxic action is known (nonpolar narcosis), an assessment factor of 100 can be used for the derivation of the MAC<sub>eco, water</sub>. Based on the lowest EC<sub>50</sub> value of 2.44 mg/L for *Cerodaphnia cf. dubia*, this results in a MAC<sub>eco, water</sub> of 2.44 mg/L / 100 = 24.4 µg/L.

#### 3.1.4.2 MAC<sub>eco, marine</sub>

Since the datasets for freshwater and marine water can be combined and no data on the toxicity of m-xylene for specific marine taxonomic groups is available, the MAC<sub>eco, marine</sub> is derived by applying an additional assessment factor of 10 on the MAC<sub>eco, water</sub> of 24.4  $\mu$ g/L. The MAC<sub>eco, marine</sub> is 24.4  $\mu$ g/L / 10 = 2.44  $\mu$ g/L.

### 3.1.4.3 NC<sub>water</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen en Verbruggen (2007), the NC should be 'set to a factor of 100 below the MPC, which defines a safety margin allowing for combination toxicity.' Thus, the NC<sub>water</sub> for m-xylene is the MPC<sub>water</sub> of  $2.44 \,\mu\text{g/L} / 100 = 0.24 \,\mu\text{g/L}$ .

#### 3.1.4.4 NC<sub>marine</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen en Verbruggen (2007), the NC should be 'set to a factor of 100 below the MPC, which defines a safety margin allowing for combination toxicity.' Thus, the NC<sub>marine</sub> for m-xylene is the MPC<sub>marine</sub> of  $0.24~\mu g/L$  /  $100 = 0.02~\mu g/L$ .

#### 3.1.4.5 SRC<sub>eco, water</sub>

The base set is complete and one NOEC for algae (0.7 mg/L) is available. The datasets for freshwater and marine water were combined, the geometric mean of the combined L(E)C<sub>50</sub> values is 9.44 mg/L. Since this geometric mean is more than 10 times higher than the NOEC, the SRC<sub>eco, water</sub> is based on the NOEC using an assessment factor of 1 (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007). The SRC<sub>eco, water</sub> for m-xylene is 0.7 mg/L = 700  $\mu$ g/L.

### 3.1.5 Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for sediment

The log  $K_{p, susp-water}$  of m-xylene is below the trigger value of 3, therefore, ERLs are not derived for sediment.

#### 3.1.6 Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for soil

#### 3.1.6.1 MPC<sub>eco, soil</sub>

Since soil data for m-xylene are not available, the equilibrium partitioning method was used (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007, section 3.7). Using  $K_{air-water} = 0.26 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$ ,  $Kp_{soil} = 4.3 \text{ L/kg}$ ,  $K_{soil-water} = 6.67$ , the MPC<sub>Dutch standard soil, EqP, dwt</sub> is calculated to be 31.9  $\mu$ g/kg.

#### 3.1.6.2 MPC<sub>sp, soil</sub>

m-xylene has a BCF<100 L/kg, thus assessment of secondary poisoning is not triggered.

#### 3.1.6.3 MPC<sub>human, soil</sub>

According to the methods in the INS Guidance (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007, section 3.3.6), the MPC<sub>human,soil, dwt</sub> is 1.693 mg/kg =  $1693 \mu g/kg$  for consumption of root crops.

#### 3.1.6.4 MPC<sub>soil</sub>

The lowest value of the routes included is the MPC $_{eco,\,soil}$  (see section 2.3). Therefore, the MPC $_{soil}$  is 31.9  $\mu g/L$ .

#### 3.1.6.5 NC<sub>soil</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen en Verbruggen (2007), the NC should be 'set to a factor of 100 below the MPC, which defines a safety margin allowing for combination toxicity.' Thus, the NC<sub>soil</sub> for m-xylene is the MPC<sub>soil</sub> of 31.9  $\mu$ g/kg / 100 = 0.32  $\mu$ g/kg.

#### 3.1.6.6 SRC<sub>soil</sub>

Since no toxicity data are available, the SRC<sub>soil</sub> can not be derived.

#### 3.1.7 Derivation of ERLs for groundwater

Since groundwater-specific ecotoxicological data are not available for m-xylene, the ERLs for surface water and drinking water are taken as substitute (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007).

#### 3.1.7.1 MPC<sub>eco, gw</sub>

The MPC<sub>eco, gw</sub> is equal to the MPC<sub>eco, water</sub> of  $2.44 \mu g/L$ .

#### 3.1.7.2 MPC<sub>human, gw</sub>

The MPC<sub>human, gw</sub> is equal to the MPC<sub>dw, water</sub> of 525  $\mu$ g/L.

#### 3.1.7.3 MPC<sub>gw</sub>

The lowest value of the routes included is the MPC $_{\rm eco,\,gw}$  (see section 2.3). Therefore, the MPC $_{\rm gw}$  is 2.44  $\mu g/L$ .

#### 3.1.7.4 NC<sub>gw</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen en Verbruggen (2007), the NC should be 'set to a factor of 100 below the MPC, which defines a safety margin allowing for combination toxicity.' Thus, the NC  $_{gw}$  for m-xylene is the MPC $_{gw}$  of 2.44  $\mu g/L$  /  $100 = 0.02~\mu g/L$ .

#### 3.1.8 Derivation of ERL for air

### 3.1.8.1 MPC<sub>human, air</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen (2007): 'Human exposure via air is covered via the Tolerable Concentration in Air (TCA). The TCA is an existing standard ( $\mu g/m^3$ ) aimed at the protection of humans from deleterious effects after continuous lifetime exposure via air.' In 2001, a TCA of 870  $\mu g/m^3$  was derived (Baars et al., 2001). Thus, the MPC<sub>human, air</sub> is 870  $\mu g/m^3$ .

#### 3.1.9 Comparison of derived ERLs with monitoring data

An overview of the derived ERLs is given in Table 10.

Table 10. Derived MPC, NC, MAC<sub>eco</sub>, and SRC<sub>eco</sub> values for m-xylene.

ERL	Unit	MPC	MACeco	NC	SRC
Freshwater <sup>a</sup>	μg/L	2.44	24.4	0.24	700
Marine water	μg/L	0.24	2.44	0.02	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Soil	μg/kg	31.9	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.32	n.d. <sup>a</sup>
Groundwater	μg/L	2.44	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.02	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Air	$\mu g/m^3$	870	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> n.d. = not derived.

Monitoring data for the Rhine from the years 2001-2006, obtained from RIWA (Association of River Waterworks), show that at all sampling occasions and locations, the concentration of m-xylene in water was below detection limits (0.02  $\mu$ g/L).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> n.a. = not applicable.

# 3.2 o-xylene

## 3.2.1 Substance identification, physico-chemical properties, fate and human toxicology

### **3.2.1.1 Identity**

Figure 2. Structural formula of o-xylene.

Table 11. Identification of o-xylene.

Parameter	Name or number	Source
Chemical name	1,2-dimethylbenzene	Mackay et al., 2006
Common/trivial/other name	ortho-xylene, o-xylol, 2-methyltoluene	Mackay et al., 2006
CAS number	95-47-6	Mackay et al., 2006
EC number	202-422-2	
SMILES code	Cc1cccc1C	

### 3.2.1.2 Physico-chemical properties

Table 12. Physico-chemical properties of o-xylene.

Parameter	Unit	Value	Remark	Reference
Molecular weight	[g/mol]	106.165		Mackay et al., 2006
Water solubility	[mg/L]	240	20°C, shake flask	Mackay et al., 2006
$\log K_{ m OW}$	[-]	3.12		Mackay et al., 2006
$\log K_{\rm OC}$	[-]	2.35	$OC \ge 4.02\%$ ,	Mackay et al., 2006
			Batch-equil. GC	
Vapour pressure	[Pa]	767	20°C	Mackay et al., 2006
		987	30°C	
		6354	63.5°C	
Melting point	[°C]	-25.2		Mackay et al., 2006
Boiling point	[°C]	144.5		Mackay et al., 2006
Henry's law constant	[Pa.m <sup>3</sup> /mol]	594	20°C, EPICS-GC	Mackay et al., 2006

n.a. = not applicable.

#### 3.2.1.3 Behaviour in the environment

Table 13. Selected environmental properties of o-xylene.

Parameter	Unit	Value	Remark	Reference
Hydrolysis half-life	DT50 [d]		no hydrolysable functional groups	Mackay et al., 2006
Photolysis half-life	DT50 [h]	30	27°C	IUCLID, 2000

In water, volatilisation seems to be the dominant removal process with a half-life of 3.2 hours (depth 1m, wind speed 3 m/s, current 1 m/s) (Mackay et al., 2006).

#### 3.2.1.4 Bioconcentration and biomagnification

An overview of the bioaccumulation data for o-xylene is given in Table 14. Detailed bioaccumulation data for o-xylene are tabulated in Appendix 1.

Table 14. Overview of bioaccumulation data for o-xylene.

Parameter	Unit	Value	Remark	Reference
BCF (molluscs)	[L/kg]	7.25		Nunes and Benville,
				1979
BCF (fish)	[L/kg]	21.4	Exposure in crude oil suspension	Ogata and Miyake,
				1978
BMF	[kg/kg]	1	Default value for BCF < 100 L/kg	

### 3.2.1.5 Human toxicological threshold limits and carcinogenicity

The following R-phrases were assigned to o-xylene: R10, R20/21, R38, o-xylene is not classified as being a carcinogen. The Tolerable Daily Intake (TDI) for xylenes is 150  $\mu$ g/kg bw day (Baars et al., 2001).

#### 3.2.2 Trigger values

This section reports on the trigger values for ERL water derivation (as demanded in WFD framework).

Table 15. o-xylene: collected properties for comparison to MPC triggers.

Parameter	Value	Unit	Method/Source	Derived at section
$\text{Log } K_{p,\text{susp-water}}$	1.35	[-]	$K_{\rm OC} \times f_{\rm OC,susp}^{1}$	K <sub>OC</sub> : 3.1.1.2
BCF	21.4	[L/kg]		3.1.1.4
BMF	1	[kg/kg]		3.1.1.4
$\text{Log } K_{\text{OW}}$	3.12	[-]		3.1.1.2
R-phrases	R10, R20/21, R38	[-]		3.1.1.5
A1 value	not available	[µg/L]		
DW standard	not available	[µg/L]		

 $<sup>1</sup> f_{OC,susp} = 0.1 \overline{kg_{OC}/kg_{solid} (EC, 2003)}$ .

- o o-xylene has a log  $K_{p, \text{ susp, water}} < 3$ ; derivation of MPC<sub>sediment</sub> is not triggered.
- o o-xylene has a  $\log K_{\rm p, \, susp, \, water}$  < 3; expression of the MPC<sub>water</sub> as MPC<sub>susp, water</sub> is not required.
- o o-xylene has a BCF < 100 L/kg; assessment of secondary poisoning is not triggered.
- o For o-xylene, no A1 and no Drinking Water value are available from Council Directives 75/440, EEC and 98/83/EC, respectively. Therefore, a provisional DWS needs to be derived.

### 3.2.3 Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for water

#### 3.2.3.1 MPC<sub>water, eco</sub> and MPC<sub>marine, eco</sub>

An overview of the selected toxicity data for o-xylene is given in Table 16 (freshwater) and Table 17 (marine water). Detailed toxicity data for o-xylene are tabulated in Appendix 2.

Table 16. O-xylene: selected freshwater toxicity data for ERL derivation.

Chronic <sup>a</sup>		Acute <sup>a</sup>	
Taxonomic group	NOEC/EC10 (mg/L)	Taxonomic group	L(E)C50 (mg/L)
Algae		Algae	
Pseudokirchnella subcapitata	1.00	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	4.70
		Scenedesmus quadricauda	27.60
		Crustacea	
		Daphnia magna	4.15 <sup>b</sup>
		Daphnia spinulata	6.37
		Hyalella curvispina	6.37
		<u>Pisces</u>	
		Bryconamericus iheringii	9.75 <sup>c</sup>
		Carassius auratus	16.10
		Catostomus commersoni	16.10
		Cnesterodon decemmaculatus	9.33
		Lepomis macrohirus	16.10
		Oncorhynchus mykiss	7.82 <sup>d</sup>
		Pimephales promelas	16.16 <sup>e</sup>
		Poecilia reticulata	12.00

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> For detailed information see Appendix 2. Bold values are used for ERL derivation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Geometric mean of 1.00 and 17.22 mg/L; parameter immobilisation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Geometric mean of 9.56 and 9.94 mg/L.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup> Geometric mean of 7.60 and 8.05 mg/L.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup> Geometric mean of 16.10, 16.22 mg/L.

Table 17. O-xv	vlene: selected	aquatic m	arine data	for ERL	derivation
1 auto 1 / . O-A	yichic. Schooled	aquatic III	iai iiic data	IOI LIXL	uciivation.

Chronic a		Acute <sup>a</sup>	
Taxonomic group	NOEC/EC10	Taxonomic group	L(E)C50
	(mg/L)		(mg/L)
		Bacteria	
		Vibrio fischeri	$9.04^{b}$
		<u>Crustacea</u>	
		Artemia salina	24.64
		<u>Echinodermata</u>	
		Strongylocentrotus	4.10
		droebachiensis	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> For detailed information see Appendix 2. Bold values are used for ERL derivation.

#### 3.2.3.2 Treatment of fresh- and saltwater toxicity data

The datasets were compared according to the guidance of Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen (2007). Based on the result of the t-test ( $\alpha > 0.05$ ), the fresh- and saltwater data can be combined.

#### 3.2.3.3 Mesocosm studies

No mesocosm studies are available for o-xylene.

#### 3.2.3.4 Derivation of MPC<sub>eco, water</sub> and MPC<sub>eco, marine</sub>

#### **Freshwater**

The base set is complete. However, since only one chronic NOEC for algae (1 mg/L) was available an assessment factor of 1000 on the lowest L(E)C<sub>50</sub> should be used, in this case 4.10 mg/L for *Strongylocnetrotus droebachiensis*, resulting in a MPC<sub>eco, water</sub> of 4.10 mg/L / 1000 = 4.10  $\mu$ g/L.

#### Marine water

Since the datasets for freshwater and marine water can be combined, the MPC $_{eco,\ marine}$  is based on the lowest L(E)C $_{50}$  value for *Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis* of 4.10 mg/L. Thus the MPC $_{eco,\ marine}$  is 4.10 mg/L / 10000 = 0.41  $\mu$ g/L

#### 3.2.3.5 MPC<sub>sp, water</sub> and MPC<sub>sp, marine</sub>

o-xylene has a BCF<100 L/kg, thus assessment of secondary poisoning is not triggered.

#### 3.2.3.6 MPC<sub>hh food, water</sub>

Derivation of MPC hh food, water for o-xylene is not triggered (Table 15).

#### 3.2.3.7 MPC<sub>dw, water</sub>

For o-xylene, no A1 and no Drinking Water Standard are available from Council Directives 75/440, EEC and 98/83/EC, respectively. Therefore, a provisional DWS based on the TDI value for xylenes (150  $\mu$ g/kg<sub>bw</sub> day Baars et al., 2001) should be derived, resulting in a MPC<sub>dw, water</sub> of 525  $\mu$ g/L (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen 2007, section 3.1.6).

#### 3.2.3.8 MPC<sub>human, water</sub>

Following WFD methodology, the derivation of the MPC $_{human, water}$  is integrated in the MPC derivation for the water compartment. Since derivation of the MPC $_{hh}$  food, water for o-xylene is not triggered (Table 15), the MPC $_{human, gw}$  is equal to the MPC $_{dw, water}$  of 525  $\mu g/L$  (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007). Thus, the MPC $_{human, water}$  is 525  $\mu g/L$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Geometric mean of 9.25 and 8.83 mg/L.

#### 3.2.3.9 Selection of the MPC<sub>water</sub> and MPC<sub>marine</sub>

#### Freshwater

The lowest value of the routes included is the MPC $_{\rm eco,water}$  (see section 2.3). Therefore, the MPC $_{\rm water}$  is 4.10  $\mu g/L$ .

#### Marine water

The lowest value of the routes included is the MPC $_{eco,marine}$  (see section 2.3). Therefore, the MPC $_{marine}$  is 0.41  $\mu g/L$ .

### 3.2.3.10 MAC<sub>eco, water</sub>

Since the base set for o-xylene is complete, the substance does not bioaccumulate (BCF < 100 L/kg) and the mode of toxic action is known (nonpolar narcosis), an assessment factor of 100 can be used for the derivation of the MAC<sub>eco, water</sub>. The lowest LC<sub>50</sub> value of 4.10 mg/L for *Strongylocnetrotus droebachiensis* results in a MAC<sub>eco,water</sub> of 4.10 mg/L / 100 = 41.0 µg/L.

#### 3.2.3.11 MAC<sub>eco, marine</sub>

Since the datasets for freshwater and marine water can be combined, the MAC<sub>eco,marine</sub> is derived by applying an additional assessment factor on the MAC<sub>eco,water</sub>. In this case, the additional factor of 5 can be used because a value from a specific marine taxon (*Strongylocnetrotus droebachiensis*, echinodermata) is available. Therefore, the MAC<sub>eco,marine</sub> is  $41.0 \,\mu\text{g/L} / 5 = 8.20 \,\mu\text{g/L}$ .

#### 3.2.3.12 NC<sub>water</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen en Verbruggen (2007), the NC should be 'set to a factor of 100 below the MPC, which defines a safety margin allowing for combination toxicity.' Thus, the NC<sub>water</sub> for o-xylene is the MPC<sub>water</sub> of  $4.10 \,\mu\text{g/L} / 100 = 0.04 \,\mu\text{g/L}$ .

#### 3.2.3.13 NC<sub>marine</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen en Verbruggen (2007), the NC should be 'set to a factor of 100 below the MPC, which defines a safety margin allowing for combination toxicity.' Thus, the NC marine for o-xylene is the MPC marine of 0.41  $\mu$ g/L / 100 = 0.004  $\mu$ g/L.

#### 3.2.3.14 SRC<sub>eco</sub>

The base set is complete and one NOEC for algae (1 mg/L) is available. The datasets for freshwater and marine water were combined. The geometric mean of the combined LC<sub>50</sub> values is 10.09 mg/L. Since this geometric mean is higher than 10 times the NOEC, the SRC<sub>eco</sub> is based on the NOEC using an assessment factor of 1. Thus the SRC<sub>eco</sub> is 1 mg/L = 1000  $\mu$ g/L.

#### 3.2.4 Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for sediment

The log  $K_{\text{p susp-water}}$  of o-xylene is below the trigger value of 3, therefore, ERLs are not derived for sediment.

#### 3.2.5 Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for soil

#### 3.2.5.1 MPC<sub>eco, soil</sub>

Since no soil data for o-xylene were available, the equilibrium partitioning method is used (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007, section 3.7). Using  $K_{air-water} = 0.25 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$ ,  $Kp_{soil} = 4.5 \text{ L/kg}$ ,  $K_{soil-water} = 6.97$ , the MPC<sub>Dutch standard soil, EqP, dwt</sub> is calculated to be 56.0  $\mu$ g/kg.

#### 3.2.5.2 MPC<sub>sp, soil</sub>

o-xylene has a BCF < 100 L/kg, thus assessment of secondary poisoning is not triggered.

#### 3.2.5.3 MPC<sub>human, soil</sub>

According to the methods in the INS Guidance (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007), the MPC<sub>human, soil, dwt</sub> is 1.890 mg/kg = 1890  $\mu$ g/kg for consumption of root crops.

#### 3.2.5.4 MPC<sub>soil</sub>

The lowest value of the routes included is the MPC $_{eco, soil}$  (see section 2.3). Therefore, the MPC $_{soil}$  is 56.0  $\mu g/L$ .

#### 3.2.5.5 NC<sub>soil</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen en Verbruggen (2007), the NC should be 'set to a factor of 100 below the MPC, which defines a safety margin allowing for combination toxicity.' Thus, the NC soil for o-xylene is the MPC soil of  $56.0 \, \mu g/kg / 100 = 0.56 \, \mu g/kg$ .

#### 3.2.5.6 **SRC**<sub>soil</sub>

Since no toxicity data are available, the SRC<sub>soil</sub> can not be derived.

#### 3.2.6 Derivation of ERLs for groundwater

Since groundwater-specific ecotoxicological data were not available for o-xylene, the ERLs for surface water and drinking water are taken as substitute (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007).

#### 3.2.6.1 MPC<sub>eco, gw</sub>

The MPC<sub>eco, gw</sub> is equal to the MPC<sub>eco, water</sub> of  $4.10 \mu g/L$ 

#### **3.2.6.2** MPC<sub>human, gw</sub>

The MPC  $_{human, \, gw}$  is equal to the MPC  $_{dw, \, water}$  of 525  $\mu g/L$ .

#### 3.2.6.3 MPC<sub>gw</sub>

The lowest value of the routes included is the MPC  $_{\rm eco,\,gw}$  (see section 2.3). Therefore, the MPC  $_{\rm gw}$  is 4.10  $\mu g/L$  .

### 3.2.6.4 NC<sub>gw</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen (2007), the NC should be 'set to a factor of 100 below the MPC, which defines a safety margin allowing for combination toxicity.' Thus, the NC<sub>gw</sub> for o-xylene is the MPC<sub>gw</sub> of  $4.10 \mu g/L / 100 = 0.04 \mu g/L$ .

#### 3.2.7 Derivation of ERL for air

### 3.2.7.1 MPC<sub>human, air</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen (2007): 'Human exposure via air is covered via the Tolerable Concentration in Air (TCA). The TCA is an existing standard ( $\mu g/m^3$ ) aimed at the protection of humans from deleterious effects after continuous lifetime exposure via air.' In 2001, a TCA of 870  $\mu g/m^3$  was derived (Baars et al., 2001). Thus, the MPC<sub>human, air</sub> is 870  $\mu g/m^3$ .

### 3.2.8 Comparison of derived ERLs with monitoring data

An overview of the derived ERLs is given in Table 18.

Table 18. Derived MPC, NC, MAC  $_{eco}$ , and SRC  $_{eco}$  values for o-xylene.

		~		***	a= a	
ERL	Unit	MPC	$MAC_{eco}$	NC	SRC	
Freshwater <sup>a</sup>	μg/L	4.10	41.0	0.04	1000	
Marine water	μg/L	0.41	8.2	0.004	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	
Soil	μg/kg	56.0	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.56	n.d. <sup>a</sup>	
Groundwater	μg/L	4.10	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.04	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	
Air	$\mu g/m^3$	870	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> n.d. = not derived.

Monitoring data for the Rhine from the years 2001-2006, obtained from RIWA (Association of River Waterworks), show that at all sampling occasions and locations, the concentration of o-xylene in water was below detection limits (0.02  $\mu$ g/L).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> n.a. = not applicable.

# 3.3 p-xylene

## 3.3.1 Substance identification, physico-chemical properties, fate and human toxicology

### **3.3.1.1 Identity**

Figure 3. Structural formula of p-xylene.

Table 19. Identification of p-xylene.

Parameter	Name or number	Source
Chemical name	1,4-dimethylbenzene	Mackay et al., 2006
Common/trivial/other name	para-xylene, p-xylol, 4-methyltoluene	Mackay et al., 2006
CAS number	106-42-3	Mackay et al., 2006
EC number	203-396-5	-
SMILES code	Cc1ccc(C)cc1	

### 3.3.1.2 Physico-chemical properties

Table 20. Physico-chemical properties of p-xylene.

Parameter	Unit	Value	Remark	Reference
Molecular weight	[g/mol]	106.165		Mackay et al., 2006
Water solubility	[mg/L]	191	20°C, shake flask	Mackay et al., 2006
$\log K_{ m OW}$	[-]	3.15		Mackay et al., 2006
$\log K_{\rm OC}$	[-]	2.37	HPLC scr. meth.	Mackay et al., 2006
Vapour pressure	[Pa]	787	20°C	Mackay et al., 2006
Melting point	[°C]	13.25		Mackay et al., 2006
Boiling point	[°C]	138.37		Mackay et al., 2006
Henry's law constant	[Pa.m <sup>3</sup> /mol]	754	EPIC-GC-FID	Mackay et al., 2006

n.a. = not applicable.

## 3.3.1.3 Behaviour in the environment

Table 21. Selected environmental properties of p-xylene.

Parameter	Unit	Value	Remark	Reference		
Hydrolysis half-life	DT50 [d]		no hydrolysable	Mackay et al., 2006		
			functional groups			

In water, volatilisation seems to be the dominant removal process with a half-life of 3.1 hours (depth 1m, wind speed 3 m/s, current 1 m/s) Mackay et al., 2006.

# 3.3.1.4 Bioconcentration and biomagnification

An overview of the bioaccumulation data for p-xylene is given in Table 22. Detailed bioaccumulation data for p-xylene are tabulated in Appendix 1.

Table 22. Overview of bioaccumulation data for p-xylene.

Parameter	Unit	Value	Remark	Reference
BCF (fish)	[L/kg]	23.6	Exposure in crude oil suspension	Ogata and Miyake, 1978
BMF	[kg/kg]	1	Default value for BCF < 2000 L/kg	

# 3.3.1.5 Human toxicological threshold limits and carcinogenicity

The following R-phrases were assigned to p-xylene: R10, R20/21, R38. P-xylene is not classified as being a carcinogen. The Tolerable Daily Intake (TDI) for xylenes is 150  $\mu$ g/kg bw day (Baars et al., 2001).

# 3.3.2 Trigger values.

This section reports on the trigger values for ERL water derivation (as demanded in WFD framework).

Table 23. p-xylene: collected properties for comparison to MPC triggers.

Parameter	Value	Unit	Method/Source	Derived at section
$\text{Log } K_{\text{p,susp-water}}$	1.37	[-]	$K_{\rm OC} \times f_{\rm OC,susp}^{1}$	K <sub>OC</sub> : 3.1.1.2
BCF	23.6	[L/kg]		3.1.1.4
BMF	1	[kg/kg]		3.1.1.4
$\text{Log } K_{\text{OW}}$	3.15	[-]		3.1.1.2
R-phrases	R10, R20/21, R38	[-]		3.1.1.5
A1 value	not available	[µg/L]		
DW standard	not available	[μg/L]		

 $1 f_{OC,susp} = 0.1 \text{ kg}_{OC}/\text{kg}_{solid} \text{ (EC, 2003)}.$ 

**`** 

- o p-xylene has a log  $K_{p, \text{ susp, water}} < 3$ ; derivation of MPC<sub>sediment</sub> is not triggered.
- o p-xylene has a log  $K_{\text{psusp, water}} < 3$ ; expression of the MPC<sub>water</sub> as MPC<sub>susp, water</sub> is not required.
- o p-xylene has a BCF < 100 L/kg; assessment of secondary poisoning is not triggered.
- o For p-xylene, no A1 and no Drinking Water Standard are available from Council Directives 75/440, EEC and 98/83/EC, respectively. Therefore, a provisional DWS needs to be derived.

# 3.3.3 Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for water

# 3.3.3.1 MPC<sub>eco, water</sub> and MPC<sub>eco, marine</sub>

An overview of the selected toxicity data for p-xylene is given in Table 24 (freshwater) and Table 25 (marine water). Detailed toxicity data for p-xylene are tabulated in Appendix 2.

Table 24. P-xylene: selected freshwater toxicity data for ERL derivation.

Chronic <sup>a</sup>		Acute <sup>a</sup>		
Taxonomic group	NOEC/EC10 (mg/L)	Taxonomic group	L(E)C50 (mg/L)	
Algae		<u>Algae</u>		
Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	0.91 <sup>b</sup>	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	3.74 <sup>c</sup>	
-		Scenedesmus quadricauda Crustacea	9.56	
		Daphnia magna	12.16 <sup>d</sup>	
		Daphnia spinulata	4.25	
		Hyalella curvispina Pisces	4.25	
		Bryconamericus iheringii	6.63 <sup>e</sup>	
		Cnesterodon decemmaculatus	6.17	
		Oncorhynchus mykiss	2.60	
		Pimephales promelas	8.91	
		Poecilia reticulata	8.80	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> For detailed information see Appendix 2. Bold values are used for ERL derivation.

Table 25. P-xylene: selected marine toxicity data for ERL derivation.

Chronic <sup>a</sup>		Acute a	
Taxonomic group	NOEC/EC10 (mg/L)	Taxonomic group	L(E)C50 (mg/L)
		<u>Bacteria</u>	
		Vibrio fischeri	17.22
		Crustacea	
		Artemia salina	27.80

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> For detailed information see Appendix 2. Bold values are used for risk assessment.

# 3.3.3.2 Treatment of fresh- and saltwater toxicity data

The datasets were compared according to the guidance of Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen (2007). Based on the result of the t-test ( $\alpha > 0.05$ ), the fresh- and saltwater data can be combined.

# 3.3.3.3 Mesocosm studies

No mesocosm studies are available for p-xylene.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Geometric mean of 0.9, 0.44 and 1.90 mg/L; parameter growth.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Geometric mean of 3.20 and 4.36 mg/L; parameter growth..

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup> Geometric mean of 32.24, 8.49, 3.60 and 22.18 mg/L.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup> Geometric mean of 6.37 and 6.90 mg/L.

# 3.3.3.4 Derivation of MPC<sub>eco, water</sub> and MPC<sub>eco, marine</sub>

#### Freshwater

The base set is complete. However, since only one chronic NOEC for algae (0.91 mg/L) was available an assessment factor of 1000 should be used on the lowest L(E)C<sub>50</sub> value, resulting in a MPC<sub>eco, water</sub> of  $2.60 \text{ mg/L} / 1000 = 2.60 \text{ } \mu\text{g/L}$ .

#### Marine water

Since the datasets for freshwater can be combined, the MPC<sub>eco, marine</sub> is  $2.60 \text{ mg/L} / 10000 = 0.26 \text{ }\mu\text{g/L}$ .

# 3.3.3.5 MPC<sub>sp, water</sub> and MPC<sub>sp, marine</sub>

P-xylene has a BCF<100 L/kg, thus assessment of secondary poisoning is not triggered.

## 3.3.3.6 MPC<sub>hh food, water</sub>

Derivation of MPC<sub>hh food, water</sub> for p-xylene is not triggered (Table 23).

## 3.3.3.7 MPC<sub>dw. water</sub>

For p-xylene, no A1 and no Drinking Water Standard are available from Council Directives 75/440, EEC and 98/83/EC, respectively. Therefore, a provisional DWS based on the TDI value for xylenes (150  $\mu$ g/kg<sub>bw</sub> day Baars et al., 2001) should be derived, resulting in a MPC<sub>dw ,water</sub> of 525  $\mu$ g/L (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen 2007, section 3.1.6).

# 3.3.3.8 MPC<sub>humn, water</sub>

Following WFD methodology, the derivation of the MPC $_{human,\,water}$  is integrated in the MPC derivation for the water compartment. Since derivation of the MPC $_{hh\,food,\,water}$  for p-xylene is not triggered (Table 23), the MPC $_{huamn,gw}$  is equal to the MPC $_{dw,water}$  of 525  $\mu$ g/L (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007).

Thus, the MPC<sub>human,water</sub> is 525 μg/L.

# 3.3.3.9 Selection of the MPC<sub>water</sub> and MPC<sub>marine</sub>

#### **Freshwater**

The lowest value of the routes included is the MPC<sub>eco,water</sub> (see section 2.3). Therefore, the MPC<sub>water</sub> is  $2.60 \mu g/L$ .

# Marine water

The lowest value of the routes included is the MPC $_{eco,marine}$  (see section 2.3). Therefore, the MPC $_{marine}$  is 0.26  $\mu g/L$ .

## 3.3.3.10 MAC<sub>eco, water</sub>

Since the base set for p-xylene is complete, the substance does not bioaccumulate (BCF<100 L/kg) and the mode of toxic action is known (nonpolar narcosis), an assessment factor of 100 can be used for the derivation of the MAC $_{\rm eco,\ water}$ . The lowest LC $_{50}$  value of 2.60 mg/L for the fish *Oncorhynchus mykiss* results in a MAC $_{\rm eco,\ water}$  of 2.60 mg/L / 100 = 26.0  $\mu$ g/L.

## 3.3.3.11 MAC<sub>eco, marine</sub>

Since the datasets for freshwater and marine water can be combined an no information about toxicity of p-xylene for specific marine taxonomic groups is available, the MAC<sub>eco, marine</sub> is derived by applying an additional assessment factor of 10 on the MAC<sub>eco, water</sub>. Thus, the MAC<sub>eco, marine</sub> is  $26.0~\mu g/L$  /  $10 = 2.60~\mu g/L$ .

# 3.3.3.12 NC<sub>water</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen en Verbruggen (2007), the NC should be 'set to a factor of 100 below the MPC, which defines a safety margin allowing for combination toxicity.' Thus, the NC<sub>water</sub> for p-xylene is the MPC<sub>water</sub> of  $2.60 \mu g/L / 100 = 0.03 \mu g/L$ .

## 3.3.3.13 NC<sub>marine</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen en Verbruggen (2007), the NC should be 'set to a factor of 100 below the MPC, which defines a safety margin allowing for combination toxicity.' Thus, the NC<sub>marine</sub> for p-xylene is the MPC<sub>marine</sub> of  $0.26~\mu g/L / 100 = 0.003~\mu g/L$ .

## 3.3.3.14 SRC<sub>eco</sub>

The base set is complete and one NOEC for algae (0.91 mg/L) is available. The datasets for freshwater and marine water were combined. The geometric mean of the combined LC<sub>50</sub> values is 7.49 mg/L. Since this geometric mean is less than 10 times higher than the NOEC, the SRC<sub>eco</sub> is based on the geometric mean of the LC<sub>50</sub> values using an assessment factor of 10. The SRC<sub>eco</sub> for p-xylene is 7.49 mg/L /  $10 = 749 \mu g/L$ .

# 3.3.4 Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for sediment

The log  $K_{p, \text{ susp-water}}$  of p-xylene is below the trigger value of 3, therefore, ERLs are not derived for sediment.

# 3.3.5 Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for soil

## 3.3.5.1 MPC<sub>eco, soil</sub>

Because no soil data for p-xylene are available, the equilibrium partitioning method is used (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007, section 3.7). Using  $K_{air-water} = 0.32 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$ ,  $Kp_{soil} = 4.7 \text{ L/kg}$ ,  $K_{soil-water} = 7.30$ , the MPC<sub>Dutch standard soil, EqP, dwt</sub> is calculated to be 37.2 µg/kg.

# 3.3.5.2 MPC<sub>sp, soil</sub>

p-xylene has a BCF < 100 L/kg, thus assessment of secondary poisoning is not triggered.

# 3.3.5.3 MPC<sub>human, soil</sub>

According to the methods in the INS Guidance (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007, section 3.3.6), the MPC<sub>human. soil</sub> is 1.853 mg/kg<sub>dwt</sub> = 1853  $\mu$ g/kg for the consumption of root crops.

# 3.3.5.4 NC<sub>soil</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen en Verbruggen (2007), the NC should be 'set to a factor of 100 below the MPC, which defines a safety margin allowing for combination toxicity.' Thus, the NC<sub>soil</sub> for p-xylene is the MPC<sub>soil</sub> of  $37.2 \,\mu\text{g/kg}$ ,  $100 = 0.37 \,\mu\text{g/kg}$ .

# 3.3.5.5 SRC<sub>soil</sub>

Since no toxicity data are available, the SRC<sub>soil</sub> can not be derived.

# 3.3.6 Derivation of ERLs for groundwater

Since groundwater-specific ecotoxicological data are not available for p-xylene, the ERLs for surface water and drinking water are taken as substitute (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007).

# 3.3.6.1 MPC<sub>eco, gw</sub>

The MPC<sub>eco, gw</sub> is equal to the MPC<sub>eco, water</sub> of 2.60  $\mu$ g/L.

# 3.3.6.2 MPC<sub>human, gw</sub>

The MPC<sub>human, gw</sub> is equal to the MPC<sub>dw, water</sub> of 525  $\mu$ g/L.

# 3.3.6.3 MPC<sub>gw</sub>

The lowest value of the routes included is the MPC  $_{eco,\,gw}$  (see section 2.3). Therefore, the MPC  $_{gw}$  is 2.60  $\mu g/L$ 

# 3.3.6.4 NC<sub>gw</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen (2007), the NC should be 'set to a factor of 100 below the MPC, which defines a safety margin allowing for combination toxicity.' Thus, the NC<sub>gw</sub> for p-xylene is the MPC<sub>gw</sub> of  $2.60 \mu g/L / 100 = 0.03 \mu g/L$ .

# 3.3.7 Derivation of ERL for air

# 3.3.7.1 MPC<sub>human, air</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen (2007): 'Human exposure via air is covered via the Tolerable Concentration in Air (TCA). The TCA is an existing standard ( $\mu g/m^3$ ) aimed at the protection of humans from deleterious effects after continuous lifetime exposure via air.' In 2001, a TCA of 870  $\mu g/m^3$  was derived (Baars et al., 2001). Thus, the MPC<sub>human, air</sub> is 870  $\mu g/m^3$ .

# 3.3.8 Comparison of derived ERLs with monitoring data

An overview of the derived ERLs is given in Table 26.

Table 26. Derived MPC, NC, MACeco, and SRCeco values for p-xylene.

ERL	Unit	MPC	MAC <sub>eco</sub>	NC	SRC
Freshwater <sup>a</sup>	μg/L	2.60	26.0	0.03	749
Marine water	μg/L	0.26	2.60	0.003	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Soil	μg/kg	37.2	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.37	n.d. <sup>a</sup>
Ground water	μg/L	2.60	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.03	n.a.c
Air	$\mu g/m^3$	870	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a.c

a n.d. = not derived.

Monitoring data for the Rhine from the years 2001-2006, obtained from RIWA (Association of River Waterworks), show that at all sampling occasions and locations, the concentration of p-xylene in water was below detection limits ( $0.02 \mu g/L$ ).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> n.a. = not applicable.

# 3.4 Xylene (grouped isomers)

Since the differences in toxicity for the individual xylene isomers are small, additional environmental risk limits were derived for the xylenes as a group based on the combined datasets of m-, o- and p-xylene. Only ERLs which are relevant for the individual xylene isomers are also derived for the grouped isomers.

# 3.4.1 Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for water

# 3.4.1.1 MPC<sub>eco, water</sub> and MPC<sub>eco, marine</sub>

An overview of the selected toxicity data for xylene is given in Table 27 (freshwater) Table 28 (marine water). Detailed toxicity data for xylene are tabulated in Appendix 2. Note that the aggregated data table for the grouped isomers differs from those for the individual isomers due to the larger amount of data on which the geometric means are based.

Table 27. Xylene: selected freshwater toxicity data for ERL derivation.

Chronic <sup>a</sup>		Acute <sup>a</sup>		
Taxonomic group	NOEC/EC10 (mg/L)	Taxonomic group	L(E)C50 (mg/L)	
Algae	(mg/L)	Algae	(mg/L)	
Chlorella vulgaris	12.47	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	4.23°	
Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	$0.86^{b}$	Scenedesmu quadricauda	12.52 <sup>d</sup>	
•		Crustacea		
		Cerodaphnia cf. dubia	2.44	
		Daphnia magna	$7.32^{e}$	
		Daphnia spinulata	$4.86^{\mathrm{f}}$	
		Hyalella curvispina	$4.86^{g}$	
		Pisces		
		Bryconamericus iheringii	$9.04^{h}$	
		Carassius auratus	16.10	
		Cataostomus commersoni	16.10	
		Cnesterodon decemmaculatus	8.51 <sup>i</sup>	
		Lepomis macrochirus	16.10	
		Oncorhynchus mykiss	$6.05^{j}$	
		Oryzias latipes	32.00	
		Pimephales promelas	17.51 <sup>k</sup>	
		Poecilia reticulata	11.09 <sup>1</sup>	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> For detailed information see Appendix 2. Bold values are used for ERL derivation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Geometric mean of 0.7, 0.9 and 1.0 mg/L.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Geometric mean of 3.20, 4.36, 4.70 and 4.90 mg/L.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup> Geometric mean of 7.43, 9.56 and 27.60 mg/L.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup> Geometric mean of 1.00, 3.60, 4.70, 17.22, 22.18 and 23.77 mg/L.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>f</sup> Geometric mean of 4.25, 4.25 and 6.37 mg/L.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>g</sup> Geometric mean of 4.25, 4.25 and 6.37 mg/L.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>h</sup> Geometric mean of 6.37, 6.90, 9.56, 9.94, 11.23 and 11.68 mg/L.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup> Geometric mean of 6.17, 9.33 and 10.72 mg/L.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>j</sup> Geometric mean of 2.60, 7.60, 8.05 and 8.40 mg/L.

Table 28. Xylene: selected marine toxicity data for ERL derivation.

Chronic <sup>a</sup>		Acute <sup>a</sup>	
Taxonomic group	NOEC/EC10	Taxonomic group	L(E)C50
	(mg/L)		(mg/L)
		Bacteria	
		Vibrio fischeri	12.84 <sup>b</sup>
		Crustacea	
		Artemia salina	16.31 <sup>c</sup>
		<u>Echinodermata</u>	
		Strongylocentrotus	4.10
		droebachiensis	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> For detailed information see Appendix 2. Bold values are used for ERL derivation.

# 3.4.1.2 Treatment of fresh- and saltwater toxicity data

The datasets were compared according to the guidance of Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen (2007). Based on the result of the t-test ( $\alpha > 0.05$ ), the fresh- and saltwater data can be combined.

# 3.4.1.3 Derivation of $MPC_{eco, water}$ and $MPC_{eco, marine}$

#### **Freshwater**

The base set is complete, two chronic NOECs were available for algae. Therefore, an assessment factor of 1000 is used on the lowest L(E)C<sub>50</sub> value of 2.44 mg/L for *Ceriodaphnia cf. dubia*. This results in a MPC<sub>eco. water</sub> of 2.44 mg/L /1000 = 2.44 μg/L

### Marine water

Since the datasets for freshwater can be combined, the MPC $_{eco,marine}$  is also based on the L(E)C $_{50}$  for *Ceriodaphnia cf. dubia* using an assessment factor of 10000. The MPC $_{eco,marine}$  is 2.44 mg/L /10000 = 0.24  $\mu$ g/L.

# 3.4.1.4 MPC<sub>dw,water</sub>

For p-xylene, no A1 and no Drinking Water Standard are available from Council Directives 75/440, EEC and 98/83/EC, respectively. Therefore, a provisional DWS based on the TDI value for xylenes (150 µg/kg bw day Baars et al., 2001) should be derived, resulting in a MPC<sub>dw,water</sub> of 525 µg/L (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen 2007, section 3.1.6).

# 3.4.1.5 MPC<sub>human, water</sub>

Following WFD methodology, the derivation of the MPC $_{human, \, water}$  is integrated in the MPC derivation for the water compartment. Since derivation of the MPC $_{hh \, food, \, water}$  for xylene is not triggered, the MPC $_{humn, gw}$  is equal to the MPC $_{dw, water}$  of 525  $\mu g/L$  (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>k</sup> Geometric mean of 8.91, 15.49, 16.22 and 42.00 mg/L.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Geometric mean of 8.80, 12.00 and 12.90 mg/L.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Geometric mean of 8.83, 9.25, 17.22 and 19.31 mg/L.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Geometric mean of 10.80 and 24.64 mg/L.

# 3.4.1.6 Selection of the MPC<sub>water</sub> and MPC<sub>marine</sub>

#### Freshwater

In the Fraunhofer document (Lepper, 2005) it is prescribed that the lowest MPC value should be selected as the general MPC. The lowest value of the routes included is the MPC $_{eco, water}$ . Therefore, the MPC $_{water}$  is 2.44  $\mu g/L$ .

#### Marine water

In the Fraunhofer document (Lepper, 2005) it is prescribed that the lowest MPC value should be selected as the general MPC. The lowest value of the routes included is the MPC<sub>eco, marine</sub>. Therefore, the MPC<sub>marine</sub> is  $0.24~\mu g/L$ .

# 3.4.1.7 MAC<sub>eco, water</sub>

Since the base set for xylene is complete, the substance does not bioaccumulate (BCF<100 L/kg) and the mode of toxic action is known (nonpolar narcosis), an assessment factor of 100 can be used for the derivation of the MAC<sub>eco, water</sub>. The lowest EC<sub>50</sub> value of 2.44 mg/L for *Cerodaphnia cf. dubia* results in a MAC<sub>eco, water</sub> of 2.44 mg/L /  $100 = 24.4 \mu g/L$ .

# 3.4.1.8 MAC<sub>eco, marine</sub>

Since the datasets for freshwater and marine water can be combined and information is available on an specific marine taxonomic group, the MAC<sub>eco, marine</sub> is derived by applying assessment factor of 500 on the EC<sub>50</sub> value for *Cerodaphnia cf. dubia*. Thus, the MAC<sub>eco, marine</sub> is 2.44 mg/L /500 = 4.88  $\mu$ g/L.

# 3.4.1.9 NC<sub>water</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen en Verbruggen (2007), the NC should be 'set to a factor of 100 below the MPC, which defines a safety margin allowing for combination toxicity.' Thus, the NC<sub>water</sub> for xylene is the MPC<sub>water</sub> of  $2.44~\mu g/L / 100 = 0.02~\mu g/L$ .

# 3.4.1.10 NC<sub>marine</sub>

In accordance with the method described above, the NC marine for xylene is the MPC marine of 0.24  $\mu$ g/L / 100 = 0.002  $\mu$ g/L.

## 3.4.1.11 SRC<sub>eco</sub>

The base set is complete and two NOEC values for algae (0.86 and 12.47 mg/L, geometric mean 3.27 mg/L) are available. The datasets for freshwater and marine water were combined. The geometric mean of the combined LC<sub>50</sub> values is 9.22 mg/L. Since this geometric mean is less than 10 times higher than the geometric mean of the NOEC values, the SRC<sub>eco</sub> is based on the geometric mean of the LC<sub>50</sub> values using an assessment factor of 10. The SRC<sub>eco</sub> for p-xylene is 9.22 mg/L /  $10 = 922 \mu g/L$ .

# 3.4.2 Toxicity data and derivation of ERLs for soil

# 3.4.2.1 MPC<sub>eco, soil</sub>

Because no soil data for xylene are available, the equilibrium partitioning method is used (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007, section 3.7). Using a log Koc of 2.35 and a Henry's law constant of 651 Pa.m<sup>3</sup>/mol, this results in a MPC<sub>Dutch standard soil, EqP, dwt</sub> of 33.35 μg/kg soil.

# 3.4.2.2 MPC<sub>human, soil</sub>

According to the methods in the INS Guidance (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007, section 3.3.6), the MPC<sub>human, soil dwt</sub> is 1.851 mg/kg = 1851  $\mu$ g/kg.

# 3.4.2.3 MPC<sub>soil</sub>

The lowest value of the routes included is the MPC<sub>eco,soil</sub> (see section 2.3). Therefore, the MPC<sub>soil</sub> is  $33.35 \mu g/L$ .

# 3.4.2.4 NC<sub>soil</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen en Verbruggen (2007), the NC should be 'set to a factor of 100 below the MPC, which defines a safety margin allowing for combination toxicity.' Thus, the NC<sub>soil</sub> for xylene is the MPC<sub>soil</sub> of 33.35  $\mu$ g/kg / 100 = 0.33  $\mu$ g/kg.

# 3.4.3 Derivation of ERLs for groundwater

Since groundwater-specific ecotoxicological data are not available for xylene, the ERLs for surface water and drinking water are taken as substitute (Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2007).

# 3.4.3.1 MPC<sub>eco,gw</sub>

The MPC<sub>eco,gw</sub> is equal to the MPC<sub>eco,water</sub> of 2.44  $\mu$ g/L.

# 3.4.3.2 MPC<sub>human,gw</sub>

The MPC<sub>human,gw</sub> is equal to the MPC<sub>dw,water</sub> of 525 µg/L.

## 3.4.3.3 MPC<sub>9w</sub>

The lowest value of the routes included is the MPC $_{eco,gw}$  (see section 2.3). Therefore, the MPC $_{gw}$  is 2.44  $\mu g/L$ .

# 3.4.3.4 NC<sub>gw</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen (2007), the NC should be 'set to a factor of 100 below the MPC, which defines a safety margin allowing for combination toxicity.' Thus, the NC<sub>gw</sub> for xylene is the MPC<sub>gw</sub> of 2.44  $\mu$ g/L / 100 = 0.02  $\mu$ g/L.

# 3.4.4 Derivation of ERL for air

## 3.4.4.1 MPC<sub>human, air</sub>

According to Van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen (2007): 'Human exposure via air is covered via the Tolerable Concentration in Air (TCA). The TCA is an existing standard ( $\mu g/m^3$ ) aimed at the protection of humans from deleterious effects after continuous lifetime exposure via air.' In 2001, a TCA of 870  $\mu g/m^3$  was derived (Baars et al., 2001). Thus, the MPC<sub>human, air</sub> is 870  $\mu g/m^3$ .

# 3.4.5 Comparison of derived ERLs with monitoring data

An overview of the derived ERLs is given in Table 29.

Table 29. Derived MPC, NC, MACeco, and SRCeco values for xylene (grouped isomers).

ERL	Unit	MPC	MAC	NC	SRC
Freshwater	μg/L	2.44	24.4	0.02	922
Marine water	μg/L	0.24	4.88	0.002	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Soil	μg/kg	33.35	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.33	n.d. <sup>a</sup>
Ground water	μg/L	2.44	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.02	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Air	$\mu g/m^3$	870	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>c</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> n.d. = not derived.

Monitoring data for the Rhine from the years 2001-2006, obtained from RIWA (Association of River Waterworks), show that at all sampling occasions and locations, the concentration of m-, o-, and p-xylene in water was below detection limits (0.02  $\mu$ g/L). Based on these data and the physicochemical properties of the substance, the new MPC is not expected to be exceeded.

# 3.5 Sum limits

Since the differences in toxicity for the individual xylene isomers are small, additional environmental risk limits were derived for the xylenes as a group based on the combined datasets of m-, o- and p-xylene.

These ERLs differ less than a factor of 3 from the ERLs derived for the individual isomers, potentially resulting in unacceptable risks when a mixture of xylene isomers is present at one location. In order to prevent this accumulation of toxicity, the use of a sum limit for the xylene isomers is proposed. In this approach, the sum of the concentrations of the combination of the three individual isomers should not exceed the ERLs for the grouped xylene isomers (Table 29). It should be noted that the sum limit only applies when all three isomers are monitored.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> n.a. = not applicable.

# 4 Conclusions

In this report, the risk limits Negligible Concentration (NC), Maximum Permissible Concentration (MPC), Maximum Acceptable Concentration for ecosystems (MAC $_{\rm eco}$ ), and Serious Risk Concentration for ecosystems (SRC $_{\rm eco}$ ) are derived for m-xylene, o-xylene, p-xylene and xylene (mixed isomers) in water, groundwater and soil. No risk limits were derived for the sediment compartment because exposure of sediment is considered negligible. The ERLs that were obtained are summarised in the table below.

Table 30. Derived MPC, NC, MACeco, and SRC values.

ERL	Unit	Substance	MPC	MAC	NC	SRC
Freshwater	μg/L	m-xylene	2.44	24.4	0.24	700
Marine water	μg/L	m-xylene	0.24	2.44	0.02	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Soil	μg/kg	m-xylene	31.9	n.a.	0.32	n.d. <sup>a</sup>
Groundwater	μg/L	m-xylene	2.44	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.02	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Air	μg/m <sup>3</sup>	m-xylene	870	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Freshwater	μg/L	o-xylene	4.10	41.0	0.04	1000
Marine water	μg/L	o-xylene	0.41	8.2	0.004	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Soil	μg/kg	o-xylene	56.0	n.a.	0.56	n.d. <sup>a</sup>
Groundwater	μg/L	o-xylene	4.10	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.04	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Air	μg/m <sup>3</sup>	o-xylene	870	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Freshwater	μg/L	p-xylene	2.60	26.0	0.03	749
Marine water	μg/L	p-xylene	0.26	2.60	0.003	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Soil	μg/kg	p-xylene	37.2	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.37	n.d. <sup>a</sup>
Ground water	μg/L	p-xylene	2.60	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.03	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Air	μg/m³	p-xylene	870	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Freshwater	μg/L	xylene	2.44	24.4	0.02	922
Marine water	μg/L	xylene	0.24	4.88	0.002	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Soil	μg/kg	xylene	33.35	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.33	n.d. <sup>a</sup>
Ground water	μg/L	xylene	2.44	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	0.02	n.a. <sup>b</sup>
Air	$\mu g/m^3$	xylene	870	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>	n.a. <sup>b</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> n.d. = not derived due to lack of data

 $<sup>^{</sup>b}$  n.a. = not applicable

# References

- Abernethy S, Bobra AM, Shiu WY, Wells PG, Mackay D. 1986. Acute lethal toxicity of hydrocarbons and chlorinated hydrocarbons to two planktonic crustaceans: the key role of organism-water partitioning. Aquat Toxicol 8: 163-174.
- An YJ. 2004. Toxicity of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene (BTEX) mixtures to Sorghum bicolor and Cucumis sativus. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 72: 1006-1011.
- Baars AJ, Theelen RMC, Janssen PJCM, Hesse JM, Van Apeldoorn ME, Meijerink MCM, Verdam L, Zeilmaker MJ. 2001. Re-evaluation of human-toxicological maximum permissible risk levels. Bilthoven, the Netherlands: RIVM. Report no. 711701025.
- Bailey HC, Liu DHW, Javitz HA. 1985. Time/toxicity relationships in short-term static, dynamic, and plug-flow bioassays. Aquatic Toxicology and Hazard Assessment 193-212.
- Benville PEJ, Korn S. 1977. The acute toxicity of six monocyclic aromatic crude oil components to stiped bass (*Morone saxatilis*) and bay shrimp (*Crago franciscorum*). Calif Fish Game 63: 204-209.
- Berry WO, Brammer JD. 1977. Toxicity of water-soluble gasoline fractions to fourth-instar larvae of the mosquito *Aedes Aegypti* L. Environ Pollut 13: 229-234.
- Bobra AM, Shiu WY, Mackay D. 1983. A predictive correlation for the acute toxicity of hydrocarbons and chlorinated hydrocarbons to the water flea (*Daphnia magna*). Chemosphere 12: 1121-1129.
- Brack W, Frank H. 1998. Chlorophyll a fluorescence: a tool for the investigation of toxic effects in the photosynthetic apparatus. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 40: 34-41.
- Brenniman G, Hartung R, Weber WJJ. 1976. A continuous flow bioassay method to evaluate the effects of outboard motor exhausts and selected aromatic toxicants on fish. Water Res 10: 165-169.
- Bridié AL, Wolff CJM, Winter M. 1979. The acute toxicity of some petrochemicals to goldfish. Water Res 13: 623-626.
- Broderius S, Kahl M. 1985. Acute toxicity of organic chemical mixtures to the fathead minnow. Aquat Toxicol 6: 307-322.
- Burbank SE, Snell TW. 1994. Rapid toxicity assessment using esterase biomarkers in *Brachionus calveiflorus* (rotifera). Environ Toxicol Water Qual 9: 171-179.
- Calleja MC, Persoone G, Geladi P. 1994. Comparative acute toxicity of the first 50 multicentre evaluation of in vitro cytotoxicity chemicals to aquatic non-vertebrates. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 26: 69-78.
- Chu KH, Lau PY. 1994. Effects of diazinon, malathion and paraquat on the behavioral response of the shrimp *metapenaeus ensis* to chemoattractants. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 53: 127-133.
- Connell DW, Schüürmann G. 1988. Evaluation of veriuos molecular parameters as predictors of bioconcentration in fish. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 15: 324-335.
- Cronin MTD, Schultz TW. 1997. Validation of *Vibrio fischeri* acute toxicity data: mechanism of action-based QSARs for non-polar narcotics and polar narcotic phenols. Sci Total Environ 204: 75-88.
- De Wulf J, De Wettinck T, De Visscher A, Van Langenhove H. 1996. Sorption of chlorinated C1- and C2-hydrocarbons on sea sediment. Water Res 30: 3130-3138.
- Di Marzio W, Galassi S, Todeschini R, Consolaro F. 2001. Traditional versus WHIM molecular descriptors in QSAR approaches applied to fish toxicity studies. Chemosphere 44: 401-406.
- Di Marzio W, Saenz ME. 2004. Quantitative structure-activity relationship for aromatic hydrocarbons on freshwater fish. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 59: 256-262.
- Di Marzio W, Saenz ME. 2006. OSARS for aromatic hydrocarbons at several trophic levels. Environ Technol 21: 118-124.
- Dive D, Rober S, Angrand E, Bel C, Bonnemain H, Brun L, Demarque Y, Le Du A, El Bouhouti R, Fourmaux MN, Guery L, Hanssens O, Murat M. 1989. A bioassay using the measurement of the growth inhibition of a ciliate protozoan: *Colpidium campylum* Stokes. Hydrobiologia 188/189: 181-188.
- Donahue WH, Wang RT, Welch M, Colin Nicol JA. 1977. Effects of water-soluble components of petroleum oils and aromatic hydrocarbons on barnacle larvae. Environ Pollut 13: 187-202.

- Dowden BF, Bennett HJ. 1965. Toxicity of selected chemicals to certain animals. J Water Poll Control Fed 37: 1308-1316.
- Dunstan WM, Atkinson LP, Natoli J. 1975. Stimulation and inhibition of phytoplankton growth by low molecular weight hydrocarbons. Mar Biol 31: 305-310.
- Erben R, Pisl Z. 1993. Acute toxicity for some evaporating aromatic hydrocarbons for freshwater snails and crustaceans. Int. Revue Ges. Hydrobiol. 78: 161-167.
- Falk-Petersen I-B, Kjorsvik E, Lonning S, Moller Naley A, Synes LK. 1985. Toxic effects of hydroxylated aromatic hydrocarbons on marine embryos. Sarsia 70: 11-16.
- Ferrando MD, Andreu-Moliner E. 1992. Acute toxicity of toluene, hexane, xylene and benzene to the rotifers *Brachionus calyciflorus* and *Brachionus plicatilis*. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 49: 266-271.
- Folmar LC. 1976. Overt avoidance reaction of rainbow trout fry to nine herbicides. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 15: 509-514.
- Folmar LC. 1978. Avoidance chamber responsed of mayfly nymphs exposed to eight herbicides. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 312-318.
- Galassi S, Mingazzini M, Vigano L, Cesareo D, Tosato ML. 1988. Approaches to modeling toxic responses of aquatic organisms to aromatic hydrocarbons. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 16: 158-169.
- Gaur JP. 1988. Toxicity of some oil constituents to *Selenastrum capricornutum*. Acta Hydroch Hydrobiol 6: 617-620.
- Girones X, Amat L, Carbó-Dorca R. 1999. Using molecular quantum similarity measures as descriptors in quantitative structure-toxicity relationships. SAR QSAR Environ Res 10: 545-556.
- Hawker D. 1990. Description of fish bioconcentration factors in terms of solvatochromic parameters. Chemosphere 20: 467-477.
- Herman DC, Inniss WE, Mayfield CI. 1990. Impact of volatile aromatic hydrocarbons, alone and in combination, on growth of the freshwater alga *Selenastrum capricornutum*. Aquat Toxicol 18:
- Herman DC, Inniss WE, Mayfield CI. 1991a. Toxicity testin of aromatic hydrocarbons utilizing a measure of their impact on the membrane integrity of the green alga *Selenastrum capricornutum*. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 47: 874-881.
- Herman DC, Mayfield CI, Inniss WE. 1991b. The relationship between toxicity and bioconcentration of volatile aromatic hydrocarbons by the alga *Selenastrum capricornutum*. Chemosphere 22: 665-676.
- Hermens J, Busser F, Leeuwangh P, Musch A. 1985. Quantitive structure-activity relationship and mixture toxicity of organic chemicals in *photobacterium phosphoreum*: the microtox test. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 9: 17-25.
- Holcombe GW, Phipps GL, Sulaiman AH, Hoffman AD. 1987. Simultaneous multiple species testing: acute toxicity of 13 chemicals to 12 diverse freswater amphibian, fish and invertebrate families. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 16: 697-710.
- Huang Y, Biddinger GR, Gloss SP. 1986. Bioaccumulation of 14C-hexachlorobenzene in eggs and fry of japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*). Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 36: 437-443.
- Hulzebos EM, Adema DMM, Dirven-van Breemen EM, Henzen L, Dis WA, Herbold HA, Hoekstra JA, Baerselman R, Van Gestel CAM. 1993. Phytotoxicity studies with *lactuca sativa* in soil and nutrient solution. Environ Toxicol Chem 12: 1079-1094.
- Hulzebos EM, Dirvan-Van Breemen EM, Van Dis WA, Van Gestel CAM, Herbold HA, Baerselman R, Stolk M. 1989. Toxiciteit van 45 prioritaire oraganische stoffen voor sla (*Lactuca sativa*). RIVM Rapport 718710002
- Isnard P, Lambert S. 1988. Estimating bioconcentration factors from octanol-water partition coefficient and aqueous solubility. Chemosphere 17: 21-34.
- Janssens de Bisthoven L, Huysmans C, Vannevel R, Goemans G, Ollevier F. 1997. Filed and experimental morphological response of *Chironomus* lavae (dipetera, nematocera) to xylene and toluene. Neth J Zool 47: 227-239.
- Juchelka CM, Snell TW. 1994. Rapid toxicity assessment using rotifer ingestion rate. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 26: 549-554.

- Juhnke I, Lüdemann D. 1978. Ergebnisse der Untersuchung von 200 chemischen Verbindungen auf akute Fischoxizität mit dem Goldorfentest. Z Wasser-Abwasser-Forsch 5: 161.
- Kahru A, Tomson K, Pall T, Külm I. 1996. Study of toxicity of pesticides using luminescent bacteria *photobacterium phosphoreum*. Water Sci Technol 33: 147-154.
- Keymeulen R, Schamp N, Van Langenhove H. 1993. Factors affecting airborne monocyclic aromatic hydrocarbon uptake by plants. Atmos Environ 27a: 175-180.
- Kjorsvik E, Saethre LJ, Lonning S. 1982. Effects of short-term exposure to xylenes on the early cleavage stages of cod eggs (*Gadus morhua L*.). Sarsia 67: 299-308.
- Klimisch HJ, Andreae M, Tillman U. 1997. A systematic approach for evaluating the quality of experimental toxicological and ecotoxicological data. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 25: 1-5.
- Kononen DW, Gorski RA. 1997. A method for evaluating the toxicity of industrial solvent mixtures. Environ Toxicol Chem 16: 968-976.
- Könemann H. 1981. Quantitative structure-activity relationships in fish toxicity studies. Toxicology 19: 209-221.
- Li JB, Huang GH, Zeng GM, Maqsood I, Huang YF. 2007. An integrated fuzzy-stochastic modeling approach for risk assessment of groundwater contamination. J Environ Manag 82: 173-188.
- Lin JH, Chou MS. 2006. Temperature effects on Henry's law constants for four VOCs in air-activated sludge systems. Atmos Environ 40: 2469-2477.
- Mackay D, Shiu WY, Ma KC. 2006. Physical-chemical properties and environmental fate. Handbook. Second edition ed. Chapman and Hall/CRCnetBase.
- MacLean MM, Doe KG. 1989. The comparative toxicity of crude and refined oils to <u>daphnia magna</u> and artemia. Ottawa: Environment Canada. Report no. EE-111. 51 pp.
- Mattson VR, Arthur JW, Walbridge CT. 1974. Acute toxicity of selected organic compounds to fathead minnows. US EPA Report
- Mayer FL. 1986. Acute toxicity handbook of chemicals to estuarine organisms. Gulf Breeze, FL, USA: Environmental Protection Agency.
- Mayer FLJr, Ellersieck MR. 1986. Manual of acute toxicity: interpretation and data base for 410 chemicals and 66 species of freshwater animals. Resource Publication 160. Washington, D.C., USA: United States Department of the Interior. Fish and Wildlife Service. 579 pp.
- Mayes MA, Shafer TJ, Barron MG. 1988. Critical evaluation of the fathead minnow 7-day static renewal test. Chemosphere 17: 2243-2252.
- Maynard DJ, Weber DD. 1981. Avoidance reactions of juvenile coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch) to monocyclic aromatics. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 38: 772-778.
- McCarty LS, Hodson PV, Craig GR, Kaiser KLE. 1985. The use of quantative structure-activity relationships to predict the acute and chronic toxicities of organic chemicals to fish. Environ Toxicol Chem 4: 595-606.
- Melcher D, Matthies M. 1996. Application of fuzzy clustering to data dealing with phytotoxicity. Ecol Model 85: 41-49.
- Morrow JE, Gritz RL, Kirton MP. 1975. Effects of some components of crude oil on young coho salmon. Copeia 326-331.
- Muralidhara, Krishnakumari MK. 1980. Mammalian toxicity of aromex and xylene used in pesticidal formulations. Indian J Exp Biol 18: 1148-1151.
- Nakatsu CH, Carmosini N, Baldwin B, Beasley F, Kourtev P, Konopka A. 2005. Soil microbial community responses to additions of organic carbon substrates and heavy metals (Pb and Cr). Appl Environ Microbiol 71: 7679-7689.
- Nunes P, Benville PEJ. 1979. Uptake and depuration of petroleum hydrocarbons in the manila clam, *Tapes semidecussata* Reeve. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 21: 719-726.
- Ogata M, Fujisawa K, Ogino Y, Mano E. 1984. Partition coefficents as a measure of bioconcentration potential of crude oil compounds in fish and shellfish. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 33: 561-567.

51

- Ogata M, Miyake Y. 1978. Disappearance of aromatic hydrocarbons and organic sulfur compounds from fish flesh reared in crude oil suspension. Water Res 12: 1041-1044.
- Pickering QH, Henderson C. 1966. Acute toxicity of some important petrochemicals to fish. J Water Poll Control Fed 38: 1419-1429.
- Rao TS, Rao MS, Krishna Prasas SBS. 1975. Median tolerance limits of some chemicals to the fresh water fish 'Cyprinus Carpio'. Indian J Environ Health 17: 140-146.
- Ren S. 2002. Predicting three narcosis mechanisms of aquatic toxicity. Toxicol Lett 133: 127-139.
- Rogerson A, Shiu WY, Huang GL, Mackay D, Berger J. 1983. Determination and interpretation of hydrocarbon toxicity to ciliate protozoa. Aquat Toxicol 3: 215-228.
- Rose RM, Warne MSJ, Lim RP. 1998. Quantitative structure-activity relationships and volume fraction analysis for nonpolar narcotic chemicals to the australian cladoceran *ceriodaphnia cf. dubia*. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 34: 248-252.
- Schultz TW, Bryant SE, Kissel TS. 1996. Toxicological assessment in *Tetrahymena* of intermediated in aerobic microbial transformation of toluene and p-xylene. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 56: 129-134.
- Schuytema GS, Krawczyk DF, Griffis WL, Nebeker AV, Robideaux ML. 1990. Hexachlorobenzene uptake by fathead minnows and macroinvertebrates in recirculating sediment/water systems. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 19: 1-9.
- Schüürmann G, Klein W. 1988. Advances in bioconcentration prediction. Chemosphere 17: 1551-1574. Slooff W. 1979. Detection limits of a biological monitoring system based on fish respiration. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 23: 517-523.
- Snell TW, Moffat BD. 1991. Acute toxicity tests using rotifers. III. Effects of temperature, strain, and exposure time on the sensitivity of *brachionus plicatilis*. Environ Toxicol Water Qual 6: 63-75.
- Snell TW, Moffat BD. 1992. A 2-d life cycle test with the rotifer *Brachionus calyciflorus*. Environ Toxicol Chem 11: 1249-1257.
- Stauffer TB, MacIntyre WG, Wickman DC. 1989. Sorption of nonpolar organic chemicals on low-carbon-content aquifer materials. Environ Toxicol Chem 8: 845-852.
- Sulaiman AH. 1993. Acute toxicity relationships for two species of fish using a simultaneous testing method. Sci Total Environ 1001-1009.
- Swann JM, Carver TA, Schutz TW. 1995. Mechanism-based structure-toxcity relationships for *Chlorella vulgaris*. Toxicology Modeling 1: 111-121.
- Tatem HE, Cox BA, Anderson JW. 1978. The toxicity of oils and petroleum hydrocarbons to estuarine crustaceans. Estuarine and Coastal Marine Science 6: 365-373.
- Taylor KW, Caux PY, Moore DRJ. 2003. An ecological risk assessment of hexachlorobutadiene. Hum Ecol Risk Assess 9: 511-525.
- Tendulkar SP, Kulkarni BG. 1998. Physiological responses of a clam *Gafrarium divaricatum* (Gmelin) to xylene, benzene and gear oil-WSF. In J Mar Sci 27: 492-495.
- Tu CM. 1972. Effect of four nematocides on activities of microorganisms in soil. Applied Microbiology 23: 398-401.
- Tu CM. 1994. Effects of herbicides and fumigants on microbial activities in soil. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 53: 12-17.
- Van Vlaardingen PLA, Verbruggen EMJ. 2007. Guidance for the derivation of environmental risk limits within the framework of 'International and national environmental quality standards for substances in the Netherlands' (INS). Bilthoven, the Netherlands: National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (RIVM). Report no. 601782001.
- Voigt K, Pepping T, Kotchetova E, Mücke W. 1992. Testing of online databases in the information system for environmental chemicals with a testset of 68 chemicals. Chemosphere 24: 857-866.
- WHO. 1996. Xylenes in drinking water. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO.
- Wong CK, Chu KH, Shum FF. 1995. Acute and chronic toxicity of malathion to the freshwater cladoceran *Moina macrocopa*. Water, Air, Soil Pollut 84: 399-405.

Zhao YH, He YB, Wang LS. 1995. Predicting toxicities of substituted aromatic hydrocarbons to fish by toxicities to Dahpnia magna or Photobacterium phosphoreum. Toxicol Environ Chem 51: 191-195.
 Zhengtao L, Liansheng W, Hong N, Zhiming K. 1997. QSAR for biotoxication of aromatic compounds. Chinese Science Bulletin 42: 380-384.

# **Appendix 1. Information on bioconcentration**

Table A1.1 Bioconcentration of m-xylene

Species	Species	Substance	Analysed	Test	Test	pН	Hardness/	Temp	Exposure	Exp.	BCF	Method	Validity	Notes	Reference
	properties	purity		type	water		Salinity	Г	time	conc.					
		(%)					[g/l]	[°C]		[mg/l]	[l/kg <sub>w.w.</sub> ]				_
Algae															
Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata			GC			23			12h	8,33	251.19	micro- extraction, GC	3	1,2	Herman et al., 1991
Scenedesmus quadricauda		GC standard	GC-FID	S	am	7.5		22	96h		37.65	de	2	3	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Crustacea															
Daphnia spinulata	< 24h	GC	GC-FID	S	am	7.8	95.8	20	48h		63.96		2	3	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Hyalella curvispina	10 day	standard GC standard	GC-FID		dw	8.3	126	21	96h		62.90		2	3	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Mollusca															
Tapes semidecussata			GC-FID	CF			30	14	8d	3,1	6.43		2	4	Nunes and Benville, 1979
Pisces															
Anguilla japonica	130-180g		GC-FID					20	10d	50	23.6		2	3	Ogata and Miyake, 1978
Carassius auratus			GC-FID	S?						1	14.79		4	5	Ogata et al, 1984

#### **Notes**

- 1 Recalculated from ug/kg
- 2 BTEX mixture used for exposure
- 3 Exposure in crude oil suspension
- Water is filtered and sterilized using UV light, exposure 3,1ppm, analysis 3x/day
- 5 No data on or exp. time, logBCF=1,17

Table A1.2 Bioconcentration of o-xylene

Species	Species	Substance	Analyse d	Test	Test	pН	Hardness/	Temp	Exposure	Exp.	BCF	Method	Validity	Notes	Reference
	properties	purity		type	water		Salinity		time	conc.					
		(%)					[g/l]	[°C]		[mg/l]	[l/kg <sub>w.w.</sub> ]				
Algae															
Pseudokirchneriella			GC			23			12h	8,33	218.78		3	1, 2	Herman et al, 1991
subcapitata Scenedesmus quadricauda		GC standard	GC-FID	S	am	7.5		22	96h		9.76		2	3	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Crustacea															
Daphnia spinulata	< 24h	GC	GC-FID	S	am	7.8	95.8	20	48h		43.44		2	3	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Hyalella curvispina	10 day	standard GC standard	GC-FID		dw	8.3	126	21	96h		42.60		2	3	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Mollusca															
Tapes semidecussata			GC-FID	CF			30	14	8d	3,1	7.25		2	4	Nunes and Benville, 1979
Pisces															
Anguilla japonica	130-180g		GC-FID					20	10d	50	21.4		2	3	Ogata and Miyake, 1978
Carassius auratus			GC-FID	S?						1	14.13		4	5	Ogata et al, 1984

- 1 Recalculated from ug/kg
- 2 BTEX mixture used for exposure
- 3 Exposure in crude oil suspension
- Water is filtered and sterilized using UV light, exposure 3,1ppm, analysis 3x/day
- 5 No data on or exp. time, logBCF=1,17

Table A1.3 Bioconcentration of p-xylene

Species	Species properties	Substance purity (%)	Analysed	Test type	Test water	рН	Hardness/ Salinity [g/l]	Temp	Exposure time	Exp. conc. [mg/l]	BCF [l/kg <sub>w.w.</sub> ]	Method	Validity	Notes	Reference
Algae															
Pseudokirchneriella			GC			23			12h	8,33	257.04		3	1,2	Herman et al, 1991
subcapitata Scenedesmus quadricauda		GC standard	GC-FID	S	am	7.5		22	96h		26.60		2	3	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Crustacea															
Daphnia spinulata	< 24h	GC standard	GC-FID	S	am	7.8	95.8	20	48h		60.60		2	3	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Hyalella curvispina	10 day	GC standard	GC-FID		dw	8.3	126	21	96h		58.34		2	3	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Pisces															
Anguilla japonica	130-180g		GC-FID					20	10	50	23.6		2	5	Ogata and Miyake, 1978
Carassius auratus			GC-FID	S?						1	14.79		4	4	Ogata et al, 1984

- 2
- 3
- Recalculated from ug/kg BTEX mixture used for exposure Exposure in crude oil suspension No data on or exp. time, logBCF=1,17 4

# Appendix 2. Detailed aquatic toxicity data

Table A2.1. Acute toxicity of m-xylene to freshwater organisms.

Species	Species	A	Test	Purity	Test	pН	T	Hardness	Exp.	Criterion	Test	Value	Validity	Notes	Reference
	properties		type		water				time		endpoint				
				[%]			[°C]	[mg CaCO <sub>3</sub> /l]				[mg/l]			
Protozoa															
Tetrahymena pyriformis	stat. phase		S		am		28	20	24h	LC100	Mortality	399.60	3	3,17	IUCLID 2000: Schultz et al, 1978
Algae															
Scenedesmus		у	S	GC	am	7.5	22		96h	EC50	Growth	7.43	2	4,6,8	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
quadricauda Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	log phase		S	std.	am	7			8d	EC50	Growth	3.90	3	7	IUCLID 2000: Herman, 1990
Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata		n	Sc?	GC std.					72h	EC50	Growth	4.90	3	2,4,8	Galassi et al, 1998
Crustacea															
Cerodaphnia cf. dubia		у	Sc	>97		7.7		65.2	48h	EC50	Immobilisation	2.44	2	9,10,11	Rose et al, 1998
Daphnia magna	24h	у	Sc		am	7.2- 8	20	250	48h	LC50	Mortality	36.26	2	19	MacLean and Doe, 1989
Daphnia magna	juvenile (4-6 day)		S			6-7	23		48h	LC50	Mortality	9.56	4*		IUCLID 2000: Bobra et al 1983
Daphnia magna	4 - 6 days	n	Sc	>97	dw	6.5	23		48h	LC50	Mortality	9.55	3	12	Bobra et al, 1983
Daphnia magna		у	Sc	GC std.					24	IC50	Immobilisation	4.70	2	2,4,8	Galassi et al, 1998
Daphnia magna	6-24h old		Sc	>95	dw		22		24h	IC50	Immobilisation	23.77	2	13	Zhao, 1995
Daphnia spinulata	< 24h	у	S	GC std.	am	7.8	20	95.8	48h	LC50	Mortality	4.25	2	4,8, 14,15	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Hyalella curvispina	10 day	у	S	GC std.	dw	8.3	21	82	96h	LC50	Mortality	4.25	2	4,8,15	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Pisces															
Bryconamericus iheringii	4.7 cm. 2.85g	у	Sc	GC std.	nw	7.9	20	98	96h	LC50	Mortality	11.68	1	2,4, 8,16	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Bryconamericus iheringii	2.85g. 4.7cm	у	Sc	GC std.					96h	LC50	Mortality	11.23	2	2,4,8	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2004
Carassius auratus									96h	LC50	Mortality	16.00	4		IUCLID 2000: Verschueren, 1983

Species	Species	A	Test	Purity	Test	pН	T	Hardness	Exp.	Criterion	Test	Value	Validity	Notes	Reference
	properties		type		water				time		endpoint				
				[%]			[°C]	[mg CaCO <sub>3</sub> /l]				[mg/l]			
Carassius auratus	6.2 cm.	у	S		tw	6-7	20		24h	LC50	Mortality	16.00	1	1,4	Bridie et al, 1979
Cnesterodon decemmaculatus		у	Sc	GC std.	dw	8.59	19.5	141.6	96h	LC50	Mortality	10.72	2	2,4,5, 8, 18	Di Marzio et al, 2001
Oncorhynchus mykiss		у	R	GC std.			12		96h	LC50	Mortality	8.40	2	2,5,8	Galassi et al, 1998
Oryzias latipes			R		tw	7.2	20 ± 1		96 h	LC50	Mortality	32.00	2	2	Yoshioka et al, 1993
Pimephales promelas		у	Sc	GC std.					96h	LC50	Mortality	15.49	2	2,4,8	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2001
Poecilia reticulata		у	R	GC std.			21		96h	LC50	Mortality	12.90	2	2,5,8	Galassi et al, 1998
Poecilia reticulata	2-3 mos	n	R		tw		22	25	14d	LC50	Mortality	37.67	3	1	Könemann, 1981

- 1 System not closed, no prevention of volatilisation
- 2 According to OECD guidelines
- 3 LC 100 value reported
- 4 Concentrations measured at beginning and end of test
- 5 Concentrations measured at renewals
- 6 Recalculated from 0,07 mM
- 7 Photoperiod 16 hours
- 8 Mean measured concentrations
- 9 According to US EPA standards
- 10 GC quantification
- 11 Recalculated from 23 umol/L
- Recalculated from mmol/m3
- Recalculated from 3,74 log1/value (mol/l); 14h light, 10h dark
- 14 Artificial pond water
- Recalculated from 0,04 mM
- Recalculated from 0,11 mM
- 17 Value exceeds water solubility
- Recalculated from Log1/LC50 (mg/l)
- 19 Geomean of 23,6 and 55,7

Table A2.2. Acute toxicity of m-xylene to marine organisms.

Species	Species	A	Test	Purity	Test	pН	T	Salinity	Exp.	Criterion	Test	Value	Validity	Notes	Reference
	properties		type		water				time		endpoint				
				[%]			[°C]	[‰]				[mg/l]			
Bacteria															
Vibrio fischeri			Sc	>95	dw		20	3% NaCl	15m	EC50	Luminescence	19.31	2	1	Zhao, 1995
Crustacea															
Artemia salina		у	Sc		aw	8- 8.3	21.5- 23	30	48h	LC50	Mortality	10.80	2	5	MacLean and Doe, 1989
Artemia salina		n	Sc	>97			20	30	24h	LC50	Mortality	19.32	3	2	Abernethy et al, 1986
Crago franciscorum <b>Pisces</b>	1.8g	у	S	>99	nw		16	25	96h	LC50	Mortality	3.70	3	3	Benville and Korn, 1977
Gadus morrhua	eggs		S	>98,5	sea		4-6	34	6h	40-50% increase of mortality	Mortality	16-35	3	4	IUCLID 2000: Khorsvik et al, 1982
Morone saxatilis	6.0g	у	S	>99	nw		16	25	96h	LC50	Mortality	9.20	3	3	Benville and Korn, 1977

- 1 Recalculated from log1/value (3,74 mol/l)
- 2 Methods in Wells et al 1982, value recalculated from mmol/m3
- 3 >99% loss of concentration after 96h, GC analysis after 0, 24, 48, 72, 96 hours
- 4 Eggs were exposed 1,5 hour after fertilisation and the effect measured 17 days post-exposure
- 5 Geomean of 14,8, 12,2, 8,84, 8,52

Table A2.3. Chronic toxicity of m-xylene to freshwater organisms.

Species	Species	A	Test	Purity	Test	рН	T	Hardness	Exp.	Criterion	Test	Value	Validity	Notes	Reference
	properties		type	[%]	water		[°C]	[mg CaCO <sub>3</sub> /l]	time		endpoint	[mg/l]			
Algae															
Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata		у	Sc			neutral			8d	NOEC	Growth	0.7	2	1	Herman et al, 1990

16h/8h light/dark cycle; value based on measured concentrations; unclear when analysis is performed

Table A2.4. Acute toxicity of o-xylene to freshwater organisms.

Species	Species	A	Test	Purity	Test	pН	T	Hardness	Exp.	Criterion	Test	Value	Validity	Notes	Reference
	properties		type		water				time		endpoint				
				[%]			[°C]	[mg CaCO <sub>3</sub> /l]				[mg/l]			
Algae															
Pseudokirchneriella		у	Sc?	GC					72h	EC50	Growth	4.70	2	1, 2, 4	Galassi et al, 1998
subcapitata Scenedesmus quadricauda		у	S	std. GC std.	am	7.5	22		96h	EC50	Growth	27.60	2	2, 4, 8	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Crustacea															
Daphnia magna	24h	у	Sc		am	7.8- 8.1	19.5- 22	250	48h	LC50	Mortality	17.43	2	17	MacLean and Doe, 1989
Daphnia magna	4 - 6 days	n	Sc	97	dw	6.5	23		48h	LC50	Mortality	3.18	3	5	Bobra et al, 1983
Daphnia magna		у	Sc	GC std.					24h	IC50	Immobilisation	1.00	2	1, 2, 4	Galassi et al, 1998
Daphnia magna	<24h	у	CF		nw	7.39	17	44.7	48h	LC50	Mortality	3.82	2		Holcombe et al, 1987
Daphnia magna					dw					LC50	Mortality	>100. <1000	4		Dowden and Bennett, 1965
Daphnia magna	6-24h old		Sc	>95	dw		22		24h	IC50	Immobilisation	17.22	2	9	Zhao, 1995
Daphnia spinulata	< 24h	у	S	GC std.	am	7.8	20	95.8	48h	LC50	Mortality	6.37	2	2, 4, 6, 10	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Hyalella curvispina	10 day	у	S	GC std.	dw	8.3	21	82	96h	LC50	Mortality	6.37	2	2, 4, 10	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006

Species	Species	A	Test	Purity	Test	pН	T	Hardness	Exp.	Criterion	Test	Value	Validity	Notes	Reference
	properties		type		water				time		endpoint				
				[%]			[°C]	[mg CaCO <sub>3</sub> /l]				[mg/l]			
Amphibiae															
Xenopus laevis	larvae		Sc		TW		20		48h	LC50	Mortality	73.00	4		IUCLID 2000: de Zwart & Slooff, 1987
Pisces															
Bryconamericus	4.7 cm.	y	Sc	GC	am	7.9	20	98	96h	LC50	Mortality	9.56	1	1, 2,	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
iheringii Bryconamericus	2.85g 4.7 cm.	у	Sc	std. GC					96h	LC50	Mortality	9.94	2	4, 11 1, 2, 4	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2004
iheringii	2.85g	y	50	std.					7011	Leso	Mortanty	7.71	2	1, 2, 1	Brivianzio una suchz, 2001
Carassius auratus	6.2 cm.	y	S		tw	6-7	20		24h	LC50	Mortality	13.00	3	2, 2	Bridie et al, 1979
Carassius auratus	3.3 g 2.5g	у	CF		nw	7.39	17	44.7	48h	LC50	Mortality	16.10	2	12	Holcombe et al, 1987
Catostomus commersoni	2.4g	y	CF		nw	7.39	17	44.7	48h	LC50	Mortality	16.10	2	12	Holcombe et al, 1987
Cnesterodon	28	V	Sc	GC	dw	8.59	19.5	141.6	96h	LC50	Mortality	9.33	2	1, 2,	Di Marzio et al. 2001
decemmaculatus		,	50	std.	4,,	0.07	17.0	111.0	7011	Leve	111011411111	7.55	_	3, 4,	Diministration of the 2001
7.			O.F.			7.20	1.5	44.5	401	T 050	3.6 15	16.10		16	X 1 1 1 1007
Lepomis macrochirus	1.1	y	CF		nw	7.39	17	44.7	48h	LC50	Mortality	16.10	2	12	Holcombe et al, 1987
Oncorhynchus mykiss		y	R	GC std.			12		96h	LC50	Mortality	7.60	2	1, 3, 4	Galassi et al, 1998
Oncorhynchus mykiss	13.1g	y	CF	Sta.	nw	7.39	17	44.7	48h	LC50	Mortality	8.05	2	12	Holcombe et al, 1987
Pimephales promelas	0.3	y	CF		nw	7.39	17	44.7	48h	LC50	Mortality	16.10	2	13	Holcombe et al, 1987
Pimephales promelas		y	Sc	GC					96h	LC50	Mortality	16.22	2	1, 2	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2001
D:ll	4 6		S	std.	dw		18-		96h	LC50	Montolita	42.00	3	14	Matten et al. 1074
Pimephales promelas	4-6wks. 1.1-3.1	n	5		dw		22		96n	LCSU	Mortality	42.00	3	14	Mattson et al, 1974
	cm														
Poecilia reticulata		n	S				22	25	7d	LC50	Mortality	35.00	3		IUCLID 2000: Könemann, 1981
Poecilia reticulata		y	R	GC			21		96h	LC50	Mortality	12.00	2	1, 3, 4	Galassi et al, 1998
Poecilia reticulata	2-3	n	R	std.	tw		22	25	7d	LC50	Mortality	35.15	3	15	Könemann, 1981
	months											30.10			

#### **Notes** According to OECD guidelines 1 Concentrations measured at beginning and end of test 2 3 Concentrations measured at renewals 4 Mean measured concentrations 5 Recalculated from mmol/m3 6 Artificial pond water 7 Photoperiod 12 hours 8 Recalculated from 0,26 mM 9 Recalculated from 4,08 log1/value (mol/l); 14h light, 10h dark 10 Recalculated from 0,06 mM Recalculated from 0,09 mM 11 12 Water analysis 4x/day 13 Large differences in weight 14 All concentratrions are nominal 15 Recalculated from 2,52 uM 16 Recalculated from Log1/LC50 (mg/l) 17 Geomean of 17,2, 19,6 and 15,7

Table A2.5. Acute toxicity of o-xylene to marine organisms.

Species	Species	A	Test	Purity	Test	рН	T	Salinity	Exp.	Criterion	Test	Value	Validity	Notes	Reference
	properties		type		water	r			time		endpoint				
	r ·r···		31	[%]			[°C]	[‰]				[mg/l]			
Bacteria															
Vibrio fischeri										EC50	Bioluminescence	9.25	2	1	Hermens et al, 1985
Vibrio fischeri		n	S		am		15	20	15m	EC20	Bioluminescence	16.67	3	7	Kafka et al, 1995
Vibrio fischeri			Sc	>95	dw		20	3% NaCl	15m	EC50	Luminescence	8.83	2	5	Zhao, 1995
Crustacea															
Artemia		у	Sc		aw	8.3-	19.5	30	48h	LC50	Mortality	24.64	2	6	MacLean and Doe, 1989
						8.4	-22								
Artemia		n	Sc	>97			20	30	24h	LC50	Mortality	23.67	3	2	Abernethy et al, 1986
Crago	1.8g	у	S	>99	nw		16	25	96h	LC50	Mortality	1.30	3	3	Benville and Korn, 1977
franciscorum															
Cancer magister	larvae	n	S				13	30	48h	LC50	Mortality	38.00	4		IUCLID 2000: Caldwell et al,
dana															1977
Echinodermata															
Strongylocentrotus	eggs. first	y	S	>98	nw				96h	EC50		4.10	2	4	Falk-Petersen et al, 1985
droebachiensis	day after														
	fertilisation														
Pisces															
Morone saxatilis	6.0g	у	S	>99	nw		16	25	96h	LC50	Mortality	11.00	3	3	Benville and Korn, 1977

- 1 Microtox test
- 2 Methods in Wells et al 1982, value recalculated from mmol/m3
- 3 >99% loss of concentration after 96h, GC analysis after 0, 24, 48, 72, 96 hours
- 4 Beakers covered with aluminium foil, fluometrical analysis during experiment
- 5 Recalculated from log1/value (3,79 mol/l)
- 6 Geomean of 27,1 and 22,4
- 7 2% 2-propanol added

Table A2.6. Chronic toxicity of o-xylene to freshwater organisms.

Species	Species	Α	Test	Purity	Test	pН	T	Hardness	Exp.	Criterion	Test	Value	Validity	Notes	Reference
	properties		type		water				time		endpoint	_			_
				[%]			[°C]	[mg				[mg/l]			
								CaCO <sub>3</sub> /l]							
Algae															
Pseudokirchneriella		у	Sc			neutral			8d	NOEC	Growth	1	2	1	Herman et al, 1990
subcapitata															
Chlorella vulgaris	30000	n	Sc		am		20		24h	EC10	Growh rate	12.47	3		Kauss and Hutchinson, 1975
	cells/ml														

# Notes

1 16h-8h light-dark cycle, unclear when analysis is performed

Table A2.7. Acute toxicity of p-xylene to freshwater organisms.

Species	Species	A	Test	Purity	Test	pН	T	Hardness	Exp.	Criterion	Test	Value	Validity	Notes	Reference
	properties		type		water				time		endpoint				
				[%]			[°C]	[mg CaCO <sub>3</sub> /l]				[mg/l]			
Protozoa															
Tetrahymena pyriformis		n	S	>95	am	7.35	27		48h	IC50	Growth	88.10	3	1	Schultz et al, 1996
Algae															
Chlamydomonas sp.									3h	EC50	Inhib.	45.70	4		IUCLID 2000: Hutchinson et al,
Chlorella vulgaris		n							3h	EC50	photosyn. Inhib. photosyn.	105.10	4		1980 IUCLID 2000: Hutchinson et al, 1980
Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata		у	Sc?	GC std					72h	EC50	Growth	3.20	2	2, 3, 5	Galassi et al, 1998
Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	10E3 cells/ml	у	Sc	>99	am	7.8- 7.9	22.2	24.2	73h	EC50	Growth	4.36	1		
Scenedesmus quadricauda Crustacea		у	S	GC standard	am	7.5	22		96h	EC50	Growth	9.56	2	3, 10	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Daphnia magna	24h	у	Sc		am	7.4- 7.9	20.5- 21	250	48h	LC50	Mortality	32.24	2	15	MacLean and Doe, 1989
Daphnia magna	4 - 6 days	n	Sc	>97	dw	6.5	23		48h	LC50	Mortality	8.49	2	6	Bobra et al, 1983
Daphnia magna			Sc	GC std					24	IC50	Immobilisation	3.60	2	2, 3, 5	Galassi et al, 1998
Daphnia magna	6-24h old		Sc	>95	dw		22		24h	IC50	Immobilisation	22.18	2	11	Zhao, 1995
Daphnia spinulata	< 24h	у	S	GC std	am	7.8	20	95.8	48h	LC50	Mortality	4.25	2	3, 7, 8	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006

Species	Species	Α	Test	Purity	Test	pН	T	Hardness	Exp.	Criterion	Test	Value	Validity	Notes	Reference
	properties		type		water				time		endpoint				
				[%]			[°C]	[mg CaCO <sub>3</sub> /l]				[mg/l]			
Hyalella curvispina	10 day	у	S	GC std	dw	8.3	21	82	96h	LC50	Mortality	4.25	2	3, 8	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Rotifera															
Brachionus calyciflorus			S		rw	7.5	25		24h	LC50	Mortality	253.00	3	13	Juchelka and Snell, 1994
Pisces															
Bryconamericus iheringii	4.7 cm. 2.85g	у	Sc	GC std	am	7.9	20	98	96h	LC50	Mortality	6.37	1	2, 3, 5, 9	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2006
Bryconamericus iheringii	2.85g. 4.7cm	у	Sc	GC std					96h	LC50	Mortality	6.90	2	2, 3, 5	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2004
Carassius auratus	6.2 cm. 3.3 g	у	S		tw	6-7	20		24h	LC50	Mortality	18.00	3	1, 3	Bridie et al, 1979
Cnesterodon decemmaculatus		у	Sc	GC std	dw	8.59	19.5	141.6	96h	LC50	Mortality	6.17	2	2, 3, 4, 14	Di Marzio et al, 2001
Oncorhynchus mykiss		у	R	GC std			12		96h	LC50	Mortality	2.60	2	2, 4, 5	Galassi et al, 1998
Pimephales promelas		у	Sc	GC std					96h	LC50	Mortality	8.91	2	2, 3, 5	Di Marzio and Saenz, 2001
Poecilia reticulata		у	R	GC std			21		96h	LC50	Mortality	8.80	2	2, 4, 5	Galassi et al, 1998
Poecilia reticulata	2-3 mo	n	R		tw		22	25	7d	LC50	Mortality	35.15	3	12	Könemann, 1981

- 1 System not closed, no prevention of volatilisation
- 2 According to OECD guidelines
- 3 Concentrations measured at beginning and end of test
- 4 Concentrations measured at renewals
- 5 Mean measured concentrations
- 6 Recalculated from mmol/m<sup>3</sup>
- 7 Artificial pond water
- 8 Recalculated from 0,04 mM
- 9 Recalculated from 0,06 mM
- Recalculated from 0,09 mM
- Recalculated from 0,09 mM
- Recalculated from 2,52 uM
- Value exceeds water solubility
- Recalculated from Log1/LC50 (mg/L)
- 15 Geomean of 37, 31,5, 33,1 and 28

Table A2.8. Acute toxicity of p-xylene to marine organisms.

Species	Species	A	Test	Purity	Test	pН	T	Salinity	Exp.	Criterion	Test	Value	Validity	Notes	Reference
	properties		type		water				time		endpoint				
							[°C]	[‰]				[mg/l]			
Bacteria															
Vibrio fischeri			Sc	>95	dw		20	3% NaCl	15m	EC50	Luminescence	17.22	2	3	Zhao, 1995
Crustacea															
Artemia		у	Sc		aw	8.1- 8.2	21- 22.5	30	24h	LC50	Mortality	27.80	2		MacLean and Doe, 1989
Artemia		n	Sc	>97			20	30	24h	LC50	Mortality	24.63	3	1	Abernethy et al, 1986
Crago franciscorum <b>Pisces</b>	1.8g	у	S	>99	nw		16	25	96h	LC50	Mortality	2.00	3	2	Benville and Korn, 1977
Morone saxatilis	6.0g	у	S	>99	nw		16	25	96h	LC50	Mortality	2.00	3	2	Benville and Korn, 1977

- 1 Methods in Wells et al 1982, value recalculated from mmol/m3
- 2 >99% loss of concentration after 96h, GC analysis after 0, 24, 48, 72, 96 hours
- Recalculated from log1/value (4,08 mol/l)

Table A2.9. Chronic toxicity of p-xylene to freshwater organisms.

Species	Species	Α	Test	Purity	Test	pН	T	Hardness	Exp.	Criterion	Test	Value	Validity	Notes	Reference
_	properties		type		water				time		endpoint			_	
				[%]			[°C]	[mg CaCO <sub>3</sub> /l]				[mg/l]			
Algae															
Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata		у	Sc			neutral			8d	NOEC	Growth	0.9	1		Herman et al, 1990
Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	CCAP 278/4, 10E3 cells/ml	у	Sc	>99	am	7.8- 7.9	22.2	24.2	73h	NOEC	Growth	0.44	1	1	Oldersma et al 2004 (TNO Report)
Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	CCAP 278/4, 10E3 cells/ml	у	Sc	>99	am	7.8- 7.9	22.2	24.2	73h	EC10	Growth	1.90	1	1	Oldersma et al 2004 (TNO Report)

OECD, GLP

# RIVM National Institute for Public Health and the Environment P.O. Box 1 3720 BA Bilthoven

The Netherlands www.rivm.com